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OUR
VISION

To lead the world in safe, sustainable,
mission-critical energy storage. Enabling

the global transition to renewable energy
through people, innovation, and stewardship.
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CORE
VALUES

Purpose

We are driven by
meaningful work that

powers a sustainable future.

Service

We put
customers, partners,
and communities first.

Innovation

We continuously
improve and challenge
the status quo.

Integrity

honesty, accountability,
and respect.

Gratitude

We value our people,
partnerships, and
opportunities.
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NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meefing (AGM) of Tropical Batfery Company Limifed (hereinafter referred to as the Company) will
be held on Aprll 24, 2026, af 10 am online to consider and (If thought fit) pass the following resolufions:

1. To receive the report of the Board of Directors and the Audited Financial Statements for the Year ended
30 September 2025 circulated herewith

“THAT the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 30 September 2025 and the reports of the Directors and
Auditors circulated with the Nofice convening the meetfing be and are hereby adopted.”

2. To elect Directors
“THAT the following Directors who retire In accordance with Section 108 of the Arficles of Incorporation and who, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment, be hereby reappointed en bloc:-

Ricardo Hutchinson

Caryl Fenton
Marc Ramsay

3. Additional Public Offering
“THAT the Company, be and Is hereby authorised to Issue new ordinary shares by way of an offer for subscription to

fhe public pursuant fo a prospecius (herein the “Additlonal Public Offering” In lleu of a rights Issue to existing stockholders.

“THAT the Board of Directors of the Company and/or any duly appointed Commiitee of the Board of Directors be and
Is hereby authorised to defermine In thelr discretion any terms and conditions relating to the Additional Public Offering.”

“THAT any pre-empftion rights to which the existing stockholders may be entfitled, howsoever arising, be and are hereby
dis-applied for the purposes of the Addiflonal Public Offering.”

“THAT all ordinary shares Issued In the Additional Public Offering once Issued and allotfed be and are hereby converted
Into stock units.”




4. To appoint Auditors and authorise the Directors to fix the remuneration of the Auditors.

“THAT KPMG, Chartered Accountants, having signified thelr wilingness to serve, continue In the office as Auditors of the
Company pursuant to Section 154 of the Companies Act to hold offlce unfil the conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting at a remuneration to be fixed by the Directors of the Company.”

5. To fix the fees of the Directors

“THAT the amount shown In the Financlal Statements of the Company for the year ended 30 September 2024 for fees of
the Directors be and Is hereby approved.”

By Order of the Board

For AspireSec Limited
Company Secretary
Troplcal Battery Company Limited
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CHAIRMAN
& CEO'S STATEMENT

TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2025

FY2025 represented a year of recovery, consolldation, and balance sheet repdair for Troplcal Battery Company Limited,
following a perlod of significant expanslon, acquisition activity, and capltal Investment across the Group.

Group Revenue by Country FY2021-2025
(JMD Billions)

$7.00B M - @ 2024

$5.628 |
$5.25B
$3.50B
$3.018 |
42778 $2.808
$2.00B $1.98B $2.00B
$1.75B
o $0.358
$ﬂ12B I wm I ; $0.08B 40.07¢
- i -
Jamaica United States anuda Mexico Dominican Republic Other Total Revenue

Nofe: Canada, Mexico and Other Couniries amounts are sold though Rose Batterles (USA), and are shipped the those
respective countries.
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Gross operating revenue Increased by 14.6% to $6.44 billion, reflecting confinued strength across the Group's core
battery distribution business and contributions from Ifs International subsidiaries. Gross proflt rose by 26.4% to

$2.36 billion, supported by Improved pricing discipline, product mix, and tighter cost management. Operating profit
Increased by 25.8% to $527.0 million, demonstrating meaningful improvement In underlying operating performance.

The Group returned to profitabllity during the year, recording a net profit of $59.7 million, compared fo a net loss of
$121.4 million In FY2024. This Improvement was driven primarlly by stronger operating results and the recognition of a
non-recurring gain of approximately $235 million arlsing from the contractual reversal of a contingent acquisition
earn-out llabllity. These posltive factors were parflally offset by higher finance costs assoclated with the Group’s capltal
structure, Including Interest on preference shares and borrowings undertaken to fund prior expansion Initiatives.

A key milestone during FY2025 was the return to positive operating cash flow. Net cash provided by operating activitles
amounted to $60.1 million, compared to a net outflow of $377.9 million In the prior year. This Improvement reflects
Increased profitabllity, better Inventory management, and stabllisafion following the Integration of recent acquisitions,
although working capltal absorption—particularly In recelvables—remains an area of actlve focus.

The Group’s balance sheet strengthened during the year. As of September 30, 2025, net current assets stood af
$270.9 million, compared fo net current liabilities of $34.7 million at the prior year-end. This Improvement reflects
disciplined working caplial management, debt reduction Initiatives, and capital optimisation, partially offset by the
reclassification of a portlon of long-ferm borrowings Intfo current maturltles In accordance with confractual repayment
schedules. Shareholders’ equity Increased fo $1.60 billion, supported by the refurn to profitabliity and capifal ralsed
during the year.

During FY2025, the Group completed an Additional Public Offering (APO) generating nef proceeds of approximately
$643 million, which were applied primarilly toward debt reduction and balance sheet strengthening. This fransaction
materially iImproved financial flexibllity and reduced refinancing risk.

A milestone moment as Tropical
Battery enters the Main Market of
the Jamaica Stock Exchange

From Left:

Steven Davis
AVP - SYGNUS Credif Invesfments Ltd.

Alexander Melville- CEO, Tropical Battery
CEO, Troplcal Battery

Elizabeth James
Vice President of Wealth & Client Sfrategy, Sygnus Capltal Limited

Nicholas Davis
Manager, SYGNUS Credif Investments Lid - Capital Markefs

Gregory Samuels
Senlor Vice President & Head of Invesiment Banking, SYGNUS Capltal Limited




Furthermore, the Company reached an Imporfant milestone with Its successful graduation from the Junior Market to the
Maln Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange following the completion of the APO In July 2025. This transition reflects
the scale the business has achleved, the strengthening of Its financial posltion, and management’s confldence In the
Company’s long-term sirategy as Tropical Battery confinues to evolve Infto a more mature, Institutionally aligned public
company.

Operationally, management focused on strengthening the Group’s foundations to support scalable growth. Key Inlfiatives
Included the opening of the Group's seventh refall locatlon, commissioning of the distlled and delonised water production
facllity, Investments In fleet modernisation and logistics, and continued enhancements o governance, compliance, and
Infernal controls. These actlons were undertaken to reduce executlon risk and position the Group for more consistent
performance golng forward.

The Group's subsldiaries remailn strategically Important. In the United States, Rose Batterles prioritised organisational
stabllisation, operational discipline, and quadlity system enhancement following Its acquisition. In the Dominican Republic
and Jamailca, Kaya Energy continued to operate within a competitive renewable energy environment, maintaining a
measured approach to growth while sirengthening execution capabillity.

Looking ahead, Tropical Baitery enters FY2026 with iImproved operating momentum, a stronger liquidity poslition, and a
more resllient balance sheet. Management’s prioriiles Include continued deleveraging, optimisation of debt maturities,
Improved working capltal efficiency, and disciplined capltal allocation. With these foundatlons In place, the Group Is
well-positioned to pursue sustainable growth while enhancing long-term shareholder value.

We thank our team members, customers, partners, and shareholders for thelr continued support and confidence.

s/ A ML &,

Marc Melville Alexander Melville
Chalrman Chief Executlve Offlcer

TROPICAL BATTERY Annual Report 2025 1}'@
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Section 04 | Board of Directors

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

OD Chairman

Marc has over 31 years of extensive experience in the Tropical
Battery Group and a proven track record of leadership across
multiple industries.

He began his career at Tropical Battery on April 1, 1996, where he
committed himself to learning the intricacies of the business

“from the ground up.” Marc’s hands-on approach allowed him

to gain deep operational insights, contributing to his rise to

the position of General Manager. He serves as Chairman

of Tropical Battery, leading the company's siraftegic

planning initiatives and guiding the organisation

through significant growth and modernisation.

In addition to his role at Tropical Battery,
Marc is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Chukka Group, a leader in adventure fourism
across the Caribbean. Under his leadership,
Chukka has expanded its operations from
Jamaica into Belize, the Dominican Repubilic,
Barbados, the US Virgin Islands, and Turks
and Caicos. The company has become a
flagship for eco-tourism, providing innovative,
culturally rich experiences fo visitors from
around the globe.

Marc’s expertise and commirment to the tourism sector are further demonstrated by his service on the Board
of Directors for the Jamaica Tourist Board (ITB), of which he has been a member since 2013. Marc has
confributed to developing and promoting Jamaica as a world-class tourism destination through this role,
leveraging his operational experience to influence policy and strategic direction in the industry.

Recognised for his outstanding coniributions to business and tourism, Marc was awarded the Order of
Distinction (OD), a national honour reflecting his commitment to excellence and the positive impact of his
leadership on Jamaica’s economy and global reputation.
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ALEXANDER MELVILLE cEO - Tropical Battery

Alexander Melville has served as CEO of Tropical Batftery since January 1, 2015, bringing over 30 years of
experience in the energy storage and automofive industries. From roles such as warehouse and receivables
clerk and finance director, Alexander has played a pivotal role in the company's significant transformation
and growth.

Alexander envisioned and led Tropical Battery's effective Initial Public Offering (IPO), successfully listing the
ompany on the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) in September 2020, further solidifying its
financial foundation and growth potential.

Under his leadership, Tropical Battery expanded beyond Jamaica, strategically
entering the Dominican Republic and U.S. markets. In 2023,

he led the 51% investment of Kaya Energy Group in the Dominican Republic,
positioning the company as a key player in the region’s renewable energy sector, {
and in 2024, Rose Batteries in San Jose, California, marking Tropical Battery’'s entfry ! # -
info the U.S. market with advanced energy storage solutions. - W .
m{
AR

g

In addition to his role at Tropical Battery, Alexander serves on the board of }‘
Eppley Limited, where he is involved in the Audit and Remuneration Committees. i ‘
He also holds leadership roles in the Chukka Group, including Treasury Director
of Chukka Caribbean Adventures Ltd.

L
()

His strategic vision and leadership in driving international expansion \n
and complex acquisitions have positioned Tropical Battery as a

significant player in the Caribbean and U.S. energy markets,

ensuring sustainable growth and long-term success.




DANIEL MELVILLE

RICARDO HUTCHINSON Msc, CFA, Non-Executive Director

Ricardo Hutchinson joined the Board of Tropical Battery on June 2, 2017.
Ricardo has more than 10 years of experience in the Caribbean banking
sector, providing corporate banking and capital markets solutions to clients
across the Caribbean region. Before joining Porfland Private Equity, Ricardo
was Associate Director of Investment Banking with a leading regional
commercial bank, where he was responsible for structuring and successfully
placing several capital markets transactions. He holds a Master of Science
degree in Economics from the University of the West Indies and is a
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) holder.




CARYL FENTON, Fcca, Fca,

MARC RAMSAY, Esq. Independent Director

Marc Ramsay joined the Board of Tropical Battery on January 13, 2020.
Marc is an Attorney-at-Law called to the Bar in Barbados, Jamaica, and
Belize and a Professionally Accredited Corporate Secretary and Professionally
Accredited Director (GovStrat). As Managing Partner of Ramsay & Parfners,
Aftorneys-at-Law, his practice focuses on mergers and acquisitions, finance,
and international trade, including advising Diverze Assets Inc., Tropical
Battery Company Limited and the Chukka group. He is an Approved Mentor
by the Jamaica Stock Exchange.

Marc has served on several private and public sector boards,
including One Great Studio Limited, Aeronautical
Telecommunications Limited (AEROTEL), Jamaica Civil Aviation
Authority, Teacher Services Commission, and Key Insurance
Company Limited. Passionate about service, Marc was
Chairman of the Kingston and St. Andrew Parish Library Service
|  Advocacy Committee, an Adjunct Lecturer at the University of
the West Indies Faculty of Law, and coach to the international
law mooting team aft the Norman Manley Law School.




ITAMAR FRANKENTHAL, MBA HONS.,

ANDREW CRAMER, MiA, Non-Executive Director

Mr. Andrew Cramer is a co-founder and COQO of KAYA and oversees projectdevelopment
and implementation processes. He is a frequent speaker at regional energy and technology
conferences, including the MIT Technology Review's EmTech and the Caribbean Renewable
Energy Forum, on topics such as the role disruptive technologies like machinelearning will
play in the renewable energy industry.

Before KAYA, Mr. Cramer worked with the United Nations as a post-conflict electoral
consultant in countries including Timor-Leste, Nepal, Sudan, Comoros, Afghanistan,
and Libya.

2017, Mr Cramer was selected to be among 20 thought leaders worldwide to
parficipate in a program - funded by Google and based on the NASA Ames
Research Facility in Silicon Valley - to examine how exponential technologies
can be leveraged to address the negative impacts of climate change. Mr.
Cramer has a degree in Environmental Sciences from Loyola University
Chicago and a Master of International Affairs from Columbia University.
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Independent Director

Jody Gager-Rose is a distinguished finance professional with over 21 years of
experience in accounting, including 2 years at a senior management level. She holds
a Master of Business from Heriot-Watt University and is a Fellow Charfered
Certified Accountant and a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Jamaica.

Jody's expertise lies in International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

She has proven frack record in preparing standalone and consclidated financial
statements, particularly within the travel, leisure, and tourism sectors. Her career
highlights include her tenure as Chief Financial Officer, overseeing the accounting,
purchasing, and IT departments. At a Big Four audit firm, Jody became Director,

supporfing audit business operations across the Caricom region.

Her accomplishments have been acknowledged with awards such as Manager of
the Year for 2011/2012 and the Sushil Jain Award for her academic
achievements.
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INDUSTRY & MARKET
ENVIRONMENT

Troplcal Battery Company Limited operates across multiple segments within the global energy storage and power
solutions ecosystem. Long-term structural frends, Including electrification, renewable energy adopfion, grid rellability
challenges, and Increasing demand for mission-critical power systems, shape these segments. Understanding these
dynamics provides context for the Group’s sirategic priorliles, capltal allocatlon declsions, and operational focus
during FY2025.

The global battery market, encompassing conventional lead-acld batterles and advanced energy storage systems,
Is primarlly replacement-driven rather than discretionary. Demand Is supported by automotive, Indusirial,
telecommunications, backup power, and material-handling applications, where batterles are critical infrastructure
components.

Desplte rapld growth In lIthium-based technologles, lead-acid batteries continue to represent a significant share of
global battery volumes, particularly In automotive and Industrial applications. This Is supported by cost efficlency,
established supply chains, and high recyclabliity (Battery Councll International, 2024).

Global demand for energy storage solutions Is expecfed to grow af a mid- to high-single-digit CAGR (approximately
6-8%) over the medium term, driven by fleet expansion, Increased reliance on backup power, and greater emphasis on
energy reslllence across commerclal and Indusirial users (IEA, 2023).

Battery recycling forms a criiical component of the value chaln. Lead-acld batteries are among the most recycled
products globdlly, with recycling rates exceeding 95% In many Jurisdictions (World Economic Forum, 2023). Regulatory
oversight, environmental compllance requirements, and the economics of raw material recovery continue to reinforce the
Importance of licensed collection, storage, and export Infrastructure.

Strategic relevance to Tropical Battery: These dynamics underpin the Group's cash-generative core business, where
replacement demand, Inventory disclpline, and environmental compliance are central to profitabllity, risk management, and
long-term sustainabllify.

Global renewable energy deployment continues fo accelerate, with solar phofovoltalic (PV) systems accounting for the
largest share of new eleciriclty generation capacity worldwide (IEA, 2024). Growth Is Increasingly concenfrated In
distributed and commercial-scale solar, particularly In regions facing high electricity costs, grid rellabllity challenges,
and supportlve regulatory frameworks.

Global solar PV capaclty Is expected fo expand at a high-teens to low-20s CAGR over the medium term, with
distributed generation accounting for an Increasing share of new Installafions (BloombergNEF, 2024).

However, the renewable energy sector Is characterised by project-based revenue, competltive pricing pressure, and
senslfivity fo financing costs. As a result, financlal outcomes are highly dependent on execution discipline, project selection,
and working capltal management rather than headline market growth alone.

An Increasing share of new solar Installations Is being paired with battery storage to Improve reliabllity and optimise
energy usage. The global stationary battery storage market Is expected to grow af a CAGR exceeding 20%, driven by
hybrid solar-plus-storage systems and commerclal energy management solutions (McKinsey & Company, 2023).

Strategic relevance to Tropical Battery (Kaya Energy): These market characteristics explain the Group’s measured
approach to renewable energy expansion. Kaya Energy provides exposure to a high-growth market while prioritising
disciplined project execution, capltal efficlency, and risk management over rapld scale.

|
J—
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The mission-critical battery pack segment serves applications where rellabllity, safety, and performance are essential,
Including medical devices, robotfics, Industrial automation, aerospace, and speciallsed energy systems.

Unlke commodity baitery markets, this segment Is characterised by:
* Custom-engineered solutions;
* Long design-In cycles;
* High switching costs once Integrated Info cusiomer systems.

Batfery chemisiries used Include lithium-lon variants (including LIFePO.), nickel-metal hydride, and ofher speclalised
formulations selected based on safety, lifecycle, and performance requirements.

Global demand for advanced battery systems In Indusirial and misslon-crifical applications Is expected to grow af
a low- to mid-teens CAGR (approximately 10-14%), supporfed by automation, medical fechnology Innovation, and
Industrial electrification (BloombergNEF, 2023).

While volumes are lower than consumer markets, margins tend to be higher due to technical complexity, certification
requirements, and customer rellance on proven suppllers.

Strategic relevance to Tropical Battery (Rose Batteries): These dynamics support Rose Batterles” posiiloning as a
speclalised, value-added manufacturer where growth follows capabllity, quallty systems, and execution discipline. This
context underpins FY2025's focus on consolidation and operational readiness, with monetisation expected to follow.

Across Its operating segments, Troplcal Battery Is exposed fo Industries with structurally positive long-term demand,
but differing growth profiles and executlon risks. FY2025 reinforced the Importance of:

« Aligning capltal allocation with segment risk characteristics;
* Prioritlsing balance sheet reslience and cash generation;
* Investing In operational discipline before pursuing scale.

The Group's diversified exposure across convenflonal batterles, renewable energy solutions, and misslon-critical power
systems provides reslllence, while disciplined execution remains ceniral to translating Industry growth into sustainable
shareholder value. These indusiry dynamics directly Inform the Group’s priorities and outiook for FY2026.

References
« Battery Councll International (2024). Lead Batfery Indusfry Overview.
» BloombergNEF (2023). Baifery Market Quflook.
» BloombergNEF (2024). Global Solar and Energy Sforage Markef Quilook.
« International Energy Agency (IEA) (2023). Energy Sforage Tracking Report.
« International Energy Agency (IEA) (2024). Renewables 2024 - Analysis and Forecast.
* McKinsey & Company (2023). Global Energy Storage Growfh and Economics.
* World Economic Forum (2023). Global Baffery Recycling and Circular Economy Report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
& ANALYSIS (MD&A)

The Management Discussion & Analysis provides an overview of Troplcal Battery Company Limited’s financial
performance, liquidity, and caplial resources for the year ended September 30, 2025, compared to the prior year.
FY2025 was characterised by operational recovery, Improved cash generation, and balance sheet sirengthening
following a perlod of elevated Investment and expansion.

GROUP FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Gross operating revenue Increased to $6.44 billion In FY2025, up 14.6% from $5.62 billion In FY2024. Growth was driven
by stable demand across the Group’s core battery distribution business and confributions from Its Internatlonal operations.

Gross profit Increased by 26.4% to $2.36 billion, reflecting Improved margins resulting from pricing disclpline, product mix
optimisation, and cost management Initfiatives. Gross margin expansion underscores the reslllence of the Group’s core
operating model.

Operating proflt Increased by 25.82% to $527.0 million, compared to $418.8 million In the prior year. Operating
expenses rose In absolute terms, reflecting the scale of operations and Integration-related costs, but were contalned
relative to revenue growth.

Other operating Income Increased materlally to $258.2 million, largely driven by the recognition of a non-recurring fair
value gain on confingent consideration related to a prior acquisition. This lfem had a significant posliive Impact on
reported profitabllity but does not reflect recurring operating performance.

Profit before net finance costs, depreclation and taxatlon (EBITDA) amounted to $785.1 million, compared to
$429.6 million In FY2024.

Nef finance costs Increased to $580.6 million (FY2024: $426.2 millon), reflecting higher Inferest expense assoclated with
the Group's debt and preference share financing structure. While these finance costs welghed on net profitabllity, they are
expected to moderate over time as deleveraging Initlatives progress.

The Group recorded a profit before taxation of $47.0 million, compared to a loss before taxation of $107.0 million
In FY2024. After a taxation credit of $12.7 million, the Group reported a net profit of $59.7 million for the year.

MDé& A - LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Liquidity Improved meaningfully during FY2025. At September 30, 2025, the Group reported net current assets of
$270.9 million, compared to net current liabilities of $34.7 million af September 30, 2024. This represents
year-over-yedr Improvement of approximately $305.7 million.

Current assets Increased modestly to $3.65 billion, driven by higher trade recelvables reflecting revenue growth and
timing of collections. Inventory declined by $92.5 million, Indicating Improved Inventory management and reduced capital
fied up In stock.

Current llabllitles declined to $3.38 billion, supported by a reduction In short-term borrowings. This Improvement was
partially offset by the reclassification of $362.1 million of long-term loans Info current maturitles, conslstent with
coniractual repayment schedules. As a result, near-term obligations Increased, underscoring management’s focus on
cash flow generation and debt maturlty optimisation.




Netf cash provided by operating activitles totalled $60.1 million, compared to a net outflow of $377.9 million In FY2024.
This Improvement reflects higher profitabllity, stabllisatlon following acquisitions, and improved working capltal management,
although recelvables growth continues to absorb cash.

Netf cash used In Investing activities amounted to $137.6 million, primarlly relafing to capital expenditure on property,
plant, and equipment to support operations.

Netf cash used In financing activitles was $166.0 million, reflecting loan repayments, lease payments, and the net impact
of capltal transactions.

Cash and cash equivalents af year-end stood at $211.5 million, compared to $461.7 millon at the prior year-end, reflecting
debt reduction and capltal allocation declsions during the year.

Shareholders’ equity Increased to $1.60 billion, compared to $1.05 billion at September 30, 2024. This Increase reflects
the return to profitablity, the Impact of capltal ralsed during the year, and share-based payments, partflally offset by
forelgn currency franslatlon losses.

The Additional Public Offering completed during FY2025 generafed net proceeds of approximatfely $643 million, which
were applled primarlly foward debt reduction and balance sheet strengthening. As a resulf, the Group exited the year
with Improved financlal flexibllify.

Following the completion of the APO, which closed on July 4, 2025, Troplcal Battery exceeded the eligibliiiy thresholds of
the Junior Market and formally fransitioned to the Main Market of the Jamalca Stock Exchange, effective September 10,
2025. The capital ralsed sirengthened the Group's balance sheet and Improved financial flexibllity, while graduation to the
Maln Market enhances share liquidity, Investor wvisibllity, and access to a broader Institutional Investor base, supporting the
Company’s long-term growth and capital allocation objectives.

)
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE & LIQUIDITY SNAPSHOT (FY2025 VS FY2024)

Metric (J$ millions) FY2024 | Movement / Commentary
Gross Operating Revenue 64427 56223 +14.46% YoY growth driven by core operations
Operating Profit 527.0 418.8 Improved core profitability and margin discipline
Net Profit / (Loss) 59.7 (121.4) Return to profitability, aided by nonrecurring gain
Net Cash from Operating Activities 60.1 (377.9) ~$438m YoY Improvement; cash flow stabilisation
Cash & Cash Equivalents 215 4617 Cash deployed toward deleveraging and capital optimisation
Net Current Assets / (Liabilities) 2709 ) e et e (e CHIY FAURERR. Ay
Shori-Term Borrowings 1,426.3 19862 Meaningful reduction in short-term refinancing exposure
Current Portion of Long-Term Debt 3621 98.3 Increase driven by contractual debt maturity reclassification
Long-Term Borrowings (Non-Current) 2530.0 2,689.0 Modest reduction; aligned with longterm asset base
Total Interest-Bearing Debt 4L,7735 4,773.5 Overdll deleveraging trend despite maturity re-profiling
Shareholders’ Equity 15979 1,049.7 Sirengthened via APO and return to profitability
Equity Raised (APQ, nef) 6435 - Deployed primarily toward debt reduction
Debt Management Actions + - Focused reduction of short-term debt and maturity optimisation
Funding Strategy Equity + Balance Acquisition- More disciplined, less dilutive capital approach

Sheet Repair Driven

Al ATLOCATION \RITIES (EY*
3L ALLOCATION JRllEa (P}

* Contlnued debt reduction

~ A DI

» Sustained positive operating cash flow
» Selectlive capital expenditure dligned to returns
» Assef opfimisafion (including sale-and-leaseback)

* Disclplined growth with IImited dilution
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MD&A - SEGMENT PERFORMANCE

The Group contlnues to operate across conventlonal battery distribution, renewable energy solutions, and misslon-critical
battery systems through Its subsidiarles.

In Jamalca, the core battery distributlon business remalns cash generative, supported by a broad retall and dealer
network. In the United States, Rose Batterles focused on operational stabllisation, quallty systems, and organisational
readiness following Its acquisition. In the Dominlcan Republic and Jamalca, Kaya Energy continued to operate In a
competitive renewable energy market, prioritising disclplined execution and selective growth.

OVERVIEW

Troplcal Battery operates across multiple geographic markets and business lines. Management evaluates segment
performance based on revenue growth, operating profitabillity, and strategic contribution, while accounting for
Intercompany transactions and consolldation adjustments.

Group Revenue by Country Y2022-25
(JMD Billions)

Mexico $0.20B 3% Dominican Republic $0.16B 2%
Canada $0.29B 5% Other $0.078B 1%

United States

$2.378
37%

Nofe: Canadag, Mexico and Other Counfries amounfs are sold though Rose Baiterles (USA), and are shipped the those
respective countrles.
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Jamaica remains the Group’s largest and most stable market, accounting for approximately 52% of Group revenue In
FY2025.

* Revenue: $3.34 billion (FY2024: $2.99 billion)
« Operating profit: $290.9 million

Growth reflected strong retall and distribution performance, pricing discipline, and expanded operational capacity,
Including the addition of the seventh retall location.
The United States accounted for approximately 37% of Group revenue In FY2025, driven primarlly by Rose Batterles.

» Revenue: $2.37 billion
« Operating profit (pre-consolidation): $266.3 million

FY2025 focused on operational consolidation, Including facllity relocation and organisational sirengthening. Underlying
gross profitabliity remained strong, reflecting Rose’s speclalised, high-margin product mix and recurring OEM cusfomer
base. (A non-recurring earn-out labllify reversal related to Rose s discussed In Group Financial Performance,)

The Dominican Republic contributed approximately $157 millon In revenue during FY2025.

* Revenue: $157.4 milllion
« Operating profit: $3.6 million

FY2025 reflected measured executlon and disclplined project selection In a competitive, project-driven renewable energy
market.
Canada and Mexico together confributed approximately $497 milllon In revenue during FY2025.

« Canada: $292 million
« Mexico: $205 million

These markets enhance geographic diversification and support the Group’s broader North American footprint.

« Tropical Mobility: Revenue of $2.5 million, with operating losses reflecting early-stage Investment.
« Tropical Renewable: Revenue of $233.3 milllion, operating profit of $26.6 million.

FY2025 segment performance reflects a Group transitioning from expansion fo execution, with Jamalca providing stabllity
and cash generatlon, the Unlted States providing scale and margin strength, and developing markets contributing
diversification and long-term optlonallty.




OUTLOOK
Troplcal Battery enters FY2026 with strengthened operational foundations, Improved liquidity quality, and a more resllient
capltal structure, following a year of disclplined executlon and balance sheet repailr.

As outlined In the preceding Industry & Market Environment section, the Group operates In markets with structurally
positive long-term demand, but with distinct growth profiles and execution risks across Its operating segments.
Against this backdrop, management’s prioritles for FY2026 remaln firmly anchored In cash generation, capital discipline,
and operational scalability, rather than headline growth.

With the Group having returned to posltive operating cash flow In FY2025, focus will remaln on ensuring that earnings
continue to franslate Into cash. Working capltal efficlency, particularly Inventory management and recelvables discipline,
will remaln a core focus for management as the Group seeks to strengthen returns on Invested capltal while supporting
ongolng operations.

The Group will continue to prioritise deleveraging and capital optimisation, bullding on the progress achleved during
FY2025. Following the successful equity ralse completed during the year, management Is advancing additional
asset-backed funding Initlatives, Including sale-and-leaseback arrangements. These Initiafives are Intended to reduce debt
levels further, Improve liquidity headroom, and support working capltal requirements, while preserving financlal flexibllity
and limlting shareholder dilution.

Operationally, the Investments made during FY2025 across Infrastructure, logistics, systems, and compliance posltion the
Group to scale more efficlently. In Jamalca, focus will remaln on strengthening core retall and distributlon performance
while leveraging recent capaclty enhancements. In the United States, Rose Batterles Is expected to benefit from
operational consolidation and organisational strengthening undertaken during FY2025, which should support more
predictable execution and Improved operating leverage. In the Dominican Republic, Kaya Energy remains posltioned as
a strategic optlondlity, pursuing growth selectively and aligning It with disclplined capltal dllocation principles.

While macroeconomic conditions, Including Interest rates and forelgn exchange volatility, remain areas of uncertainty,

management belleves the Group’s Improved balance sheet strength, diversified operations, and execution-focused strategy

provide a solld platform to navigate external risks.

Overdll, Tropical Battery approaches FY2026 with a clear sirategic focus: protect liquidity, strengthen returns on
invested capital, and pursue growth opportunities selectively and responsibly, to dellver sustainable long-term value
for shareholders.

5
ot

U’s
=~J



Leadershi;_)_
Team




LEADERSHIP
TEAM

ALEXANDER MELVILLE

DANIEL MELVILLE cooO - Tropical Battery

On May 19, 2016, Daniel took up the role of the VP of Sales & Marketing at

Tropical Battery, where his skills allowed him to lead the sales feam and

execute successful customer service strategies. Since taking over this role,

sales have grown by more than 15% annually. He teams up with all depart-

ment heads to brainstorm, motivafte, and inspire our fellow employees while

overseeing business operations. In June 2021, he was promoted to Chief

Operating Officer COO. Daniel is also a board member, and his mandate
is to ensure that Tropical Battery is constantly moving toward fulfilling
its short-term and long-term goals and does not diverge from its
strategic plan.

Before Tropical Battery, he worked for over 14 years at the Chukka
Group, both on the operating side and in the marketing feam.

Before that, he worked with Carnival Cruise Lines, which helped
him gain a unique understanding of visitors’ vacation preferences
and needs.




OLIVER HILL, msc,

KARINA CHEZ, MBA, MIA, CEO - Kaya Energy

Mrs. Karina Chez brings extensive business management and International
trade experlence to the KAYA feam. She Is a sirategic vislonary driving the
company’s growth Into the future. Karina Is a soughi-after International speaker
who has presented on solar energy, entrepreneurship, women's leadership, and
climate change toplcs. She has a broad business network relevant to KAYA's
growth, Including serving as the founding President of ASOFER, the Dominlcan
Republic’s renewable energy assoclation; a former president and board
member of Enirepreneurs’ Organization; a former Board Member of AIRD;
and the Chapter Director of Startup Grind.

Before KAYA, Karina founded The Chess Group, a digltal marketing firm
based In Dubal and New York. She was a markefing executive for JumpTV
In the Middle East and North America. Karina recelved an MBA from Pace
University and a Master of International Affalrs from Columbla University.




ANDREW CRAMER, mia,

CHRIS WUNDERLICH, BSME, CEO - Rose Batterles

Chris Wunderlich was appolnted the CEO of Rose Elecironics Distributing

(Rose Baiferles), effective January 30, 2024. Chris possesses a solld background
In operations and engineering. Significant enhancements In manufaciuring
processesand operational efficlency have distinguished his tenure In previous
roles.

Emphasising talent development and continuous Improvement In his leadership
style, Chrls aligns well with Troplcal Battery's vislon for the company. His
strategic approach to empowering teams to solve complex challenges and
his commitment to refining operational systems position him as a key leader,
ready to drlve Rose Electronics toward a fuiture of Innovation and success.




TIM GRAY, Bsc.,

Executive leadership
driving execution,
growth, and long-term
shareholder value

From left:

David Walton CMO
Reshando Mais CFO
Alexander Melville CEO
Jeffrey Brown MIT Manager
Daniel Melville COO




SENIOR LEADERSHIP TEAM

RESHANDO MAIS, mea,

DAVID WALTON., BscC., Chief Marketing Officer (CMO)

David Joined our Management Team In August 2021 as Director of Sales &
Marketing. David Is an Innovative commerclal leader with a background In both
Sales & Marketing. With over 20 years of experlence as a feam lead for
commerclally successful brands In the alcohollc beverage and FMCG
Industries and entrepreneurial ventures In the Entertalnment &
Hospitality Industry, David has conslstently bullt brands and delivered
commerclal results.




I(AMESI_-I_A RO_BINSON,‘ AAS,

JEFFREY BROWN, BscC., IS MANAGER

Jeffrey Brown Is a seasoned IT professlonal with over 18 years of experience
managing and malnfaining complex network Infrastructure, hardware, and
software systems. Throughout his career, he has demonstrated a strong abillity
to support and optimise operations for varlous organisations In Jamalca.
Jeffrey has been with Troplcal Battery since February 2023; he oversees

the enfire IT Infrastructure, administers LAN and wireless (WAN)

networks and leads project management Inifiatlves. Jeffrey's career

tralectory demonstrates a deep dedication fo the IT fleld. He has
conslstently developed his skills and taken on Increasingly complex
roles, showcasing his abliity to adapt and thrive In different
environments. With his comprehensive knowledge, technical
experfise, and leadership qualities, Jeffrey Brown Is a valuable
asset to any organisatlon requiring a rellable and efficlent

IT manager.




STACY-ANN SPENCE, Bsc.

KATHERINE MACK, vP, sales & Marketing - Rose Batteries

Katherine Mack, our VP of Sales and Marketing, Is a seasoned veteran with
35+ years of experlence In the battery Indusiry. She has ploneered a sales
approach that values trust and technical expertise over fraditional sales '
techniques, becoming the driving force behind Rose's consuliative sales
process for aimost 20 years. Her drive Is o find the optimal solution for _:'
the customer, not the sales plich. She was a member of the |[EEE ’
working group for establishing safety standards for moblle computing

and has led several weblnars with Texas Instruments (a leader In
battery chips). Working remotely from Oregon, she Jolned Rose from
a competltor due to the culture of opportunity and Independence
that Is a part of our DNA.




ERICKA HERST

Alexander Melville
delivering remarks
during the Company’s
Additional Public
Offering investor
presentation at AC
Hotel Kingston.
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OPERATIONAL
EXCELLENCE

38% Charging Capacity Increase | 696 MT Batteries Recycled | 130 MT ULAB Storage | 100% Fleet Dashcam
Coverage | 2% Delivery Cost to Sales | ISO 9001 Progress.

During FY2025, Troplcal Battery focused on strengthening operational capabllity, compliance, and scalabllity following a

perlod of expansion. Operational Initiatives were priorifised to Improve efficlency, manage risk, and support sustainable
growth across the Group.

« Commissioned the distlled and delonised water production facllity, meefing Bureau of Standards Jamalca requirements
and enabling entry Into a new, higher-margin product line.

* Expanded ULAB storage capaclty to 130 metric fonnes, enhancing environmental safeguards and supporting Increased
collectlon volumes.

* Increased Industrial charging capacity by approximately 38%, Improving throughput and reducing turnaround times.

« Completed targeted refurblshments at Ashenhelm Road, Mandeville, and Montego Bay locations, improving operational
safety and customer experlence.

* Optimised the dellvery fleet through selective divesiment of underutllised assets, reducing maintenance and
operating costs.

* Implemented dashcam systems across 100% of the fleet, strengthening compliance, accountabllity, and risk management.

* Maintained dellvery costs at approximately 2% of sales, supported by stable irip volumes and Improved route
efficlency.

« Strengthened fleet governance through updated policles and driver training.
* Collected and exported 696 meifric tonnes of spent batterles across 33 containers, reinforcing leadership In
environmentally responsible battery recycling.

= Achleved a strong recovery In Q4, driven by deeper branch-level engagement and onboarding of new
commercial partners.

« Advance the “Going Green” Initlative, Increasing public awareness and participation In battery recycling programmes.

« Strengthened environmental conirols and documentation to support regulatory compliance and audit readiness.



« Successfully passed NEPA Inspections with no significant findings, with all environmental permits renewed and updated.

« Completed CPR, First Ald, battery handling, and customer service training across operational feams.

* Updated the PPE Policy and revised hazard Identification and risk assessments across key locations.

« Confinued Implementation of I1ISO 9001:2015, including fraining In documentation conirol, Internal auditing, and
risk-based thinking.

* Implemented a company-wide salary adjusiment exceeding natlonal Inflatlon, reinforcing commiiment to employee
wellbeing.

* |ssued performance-based Incentives and recognition Initiatives fo support engagement and retentlon.

* Enhanced onboarding, technical tralining, and competency documentation across operational teams.

« Strengthened safety culture and cross-functional collaboration through structured training and communication Initlatives.
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SUBSIDIARIES: DISTINCT VOICES,
ONE GROUP STRATEGY

ROSE BATTERIES DISTRIBUTING COMPANY (UNITED STATES)

FY2025 was an Intentlonally defined transition and consolldation year for Rose Batterles following a perlod of rapld
expansion and Its Integration Intfo the Troplcal Battery Group. Management dellberately priorifised strengthening
operational foundations, Improving organisational maturlty, and aligning Rose's cost structure, systems, and governance
with the standards expected of a publicly listed group.

This approach resulted In elevated administrative and transltlon-related costs during the year; however, It materlally
reduced executlon risk and Improved operating discipline. The actlons taken In FY2025 were designed to ensure that
future growth can be dbsorbed without undue strain on working capltal, leadership capacity, or quality standards.

Rose Batteries Opens Upgraded U.S. Manufacturing Facility
to Support Scalable Growth

w
4 A

From Left:

Noelle Rabago Corporate Qutreach Officer, Office of Economic Development, Clty of San Jose
Katherine Mack VP Business Development, Rose Batterles

Tim Gray Vice President of Finance , Rose Batterles

Chris Wunderlich CEO, Rose Batterles

Alexander Melville Chalrman, Rose Batferles

David Cohen counclimember, City of San Jose, District 4

Ericka Herst VP Operations, Rose Batterles

Jessica Bariga Economic Development Policy Advisor to Mayor Matt Mahan, City of San Jose
Elizabeth Vacca District Representative , Callfornia State Senator Dr. Alsha Wahab's Office




Rose Batterles operates as a specialised provider of high-rellability, custom battery packs and power solutlons, primarily
serving OEM customers In misslon-critical sectors Including medical devices, Indusirial automation, robotlcs, aerospace, and
advanced energy systems. The business model Is characterised by:

* High levels of customisation

* Mid-volume production runs

* Long design-In cycles and sirong customer retention

« Highly recurring revenue once Integrated Into customer systems

During FY2025, management focused on sirengthening the plaiform required to support scalable, repeatable execution.
Key Inltiatives Included:

« Complefion of facllity relocation and production layout optimisation
« Strengthening engineering, quallfy assurance, and operational controls

« Standardisation of processes, documentation, and Infernal workflows

* Enhancement of Infernal reporting, compliance, and governance frameworks

These Initlatives were undertaken to transltion the business from founder-led executlon toward a more system-driven
operating model, reducing key-person dependency and Improving consistency across engineering, production, and
customer dellvery.

Rose Batterles remains sirategically Important to the Tropical Battery Group as the anchor of the Group's U.S. operations
In high-margin, misslon-critical energy storage markets. Beyond Its direct financlal coniribution, Rose provides technical
depth, engineering credibllity, and customer diversification, thereby strengthening the Group’s overdall resllience and
earnings quallty.

The operational sirengthening completed during FY2025 poslitions Rose to support future growth without disproportionate
Increases In overhead or risk, while maintaining the quallty, rellabllity, and customer trust that underpin Its long-term value.

FY2026 Is expected to represent a monetisation phase following the disciplined Invesiment and consolidation undertaken
In FY2025. With Infrastructure, systems, and organisational capabllifies now strengthened, management expects Rose
Batterles to benefit from Improved operating leverage, more predictable execution, and enhanced capacity to selectively
pursue higher-quality growth opportunities aligned with Its misslon-critical customer base.
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KAYA ENERGY GROUP (DOMINICAN REPUBLIC & JAMAICA)

Kaya Energy Group remalns a key plliar of Tropical Battery's regional renewable energy strategy, providing expertise,
exposure to fast-growing solar, energy management, and operations & malntenance markets across the Carlbbean.

FY2025 was a deliberate transition year for Kaya Energy. While reported revenue declined to approximately
US$11 million, performance was Impacted by external macroeconomic conditions, most notably restrictive monetary
policy In the Dominican Republic and extended permitting timelines, which delayed the execution and recognition of
severdl large projects Into FY2024.

Desplte these headwinds, project-level margins remained resilient, generally ranging between 30% and 40%, reflecting
disciplined englneering, procurement, and executlon standards. Management used the year to Intentionally shift focus from
short-term revenue generation foward bullding a scalable, system-driven operating platform.

Key strategic advances during the year Included:

« Organisational restructuring and leadership strengthening, with senlor hires across Sales, Operatlons, Engineering,
Project Management, and Fleld Supervision.

« Company-wide implementation of the EOS operating framework, Improving accountabllity, execution cadence,
and KPI vislbllity.

» Launch of a dedicated Operations & Maintenance (O&M) division, establishing a foundation for recurring revenue
and long-term asset management; the divislon secured the country’s largest retall chain as Its first cllent.

+ Expansion into higher-value industrial and free-trade-zone projects, Including ongolng work with anchor
customers such as CODEVI and the Corriplo Group.

+ Advancement of structured market entry into Jamaica, transitloning from collaboration to complete operational
readiness In allgnment with Troplcal Renewable Energy.

« Initiation of 1SO certification roadmaps (ISO 9001, 45001, and 14001), strengthening governance, quality assurance,
and competltiveness for larger-scale projects.

« Strategic partnership with a U.S. technology provider for excluslve representation of a patented non-lithium
battery solution In the Dominlcan Republic and Jamalca.

Operational executlon metrics continued to Improve, Including Installation speed, engineering quality, and maintenance
dellvery. During the year, Kaya completed over 200 prevenfive and correctlive malntenance Interventions and Inltiated
Installatlon on a 3.21 MWp project, reinforcing Its technical depth and execution capacity.

Looking ahead, FY202é6 is expected to reflect the commercial impact of the structural and operational investments
made during FY2025. Prioritles Include scaling operations In Jamalca, deepening battery storage Integration within solar
projects, advancing 1SO certifications, and selectively expanding Into addifional reglonal markets. With strengthened
leadership, systems, and reglonal alignment across the Troplcal Group, Kaya Energy Is positioned to contribute
meaningfully to long-term growth and value creation.
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MANAGEMENT & FUNCTIONAL
PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

During FY2025, management functlons focused on supporting the Group’s strategic prlorities of operational resilience,
financlal discipline, and scalable growth.

« Strengthened systems rellabllity, cybersecurlty controls, and data Iintegrity to support a larger, multlurisdictional
operating footprint.

« Confinued rollout of digital tools to Improve operational efficlency, reporting accuracy, and decislon-making.

* Enhanced system scalablliity and governance to support growth while reducing technology-related operational risk.

« Stabllised workforce levels through targeted recruliment, Internal mobllity, and structured succession planning.

* Expanded technlical, leadership, and safety training programmes to support operational conslstency and
service quallty.

« Strengthened employee engagement through compensation adjusiments, recognifion Initlatives, and values-based
development programmes.

* Dellvered the highest revenue and gross profit In the Company’s history, reflecting Improved pricing discipline and
product mix.

* Expanded retall footprint with the opening of the Group’s seventh retall location, supporting market coverage and
margin growth.

« Advanced digltal customer engagement Initflafives and new product channels, while maintalning a focus on profitabllity
over volume.
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GOVERNANCE,
RISK & ESG

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Troplcal Battery maintalns a corporate governance framework dligned with the requirements of the Companles Act, the
Jamalca Stock Exchange, and applicable regulatory standards across Its operating Juriscictions. The Board of Directors
provides sirategic oversight, approves major capltal allocation declislons, and moniltors risk management and financlal
performance.

The board ensures the adequacy of financlal and operational systems and Internal confrol. In addition, It ensures that
the Corporate Governance Policy Is adhered to. The Corporate Governance Policy Is avallable on the website at
www.troplcalbattery.com.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The Articles of Incorporation of TROPICAL govern the Board's composition, which balances diversity, Independence, skills,
and expertlse to promote objectlve declslon-making. A high level of professional skills and sultable personal qualities are
required for directorships. As of September 30, 2025, the Board consisted of nine directors. There are three Independent,
three non-executive directors and three executive directors: the Chairman, CEO, and COO.

Accordingly, the following criteria have been used to deflne 'executive directors!, 'non-executive directors),

and 'Independent directors':

Accordingly, the following criteria have been used to deflne 'executive directors,’ 'non-executive directors,’

and 'Independent directors':

Executive Director - An employee who handles the company's day-to-day operations.

Independent Director - A director who:

a) hold no Interest, position, assoclation, or relationship that might Influence or reasonably be percelved to Influence any
material respect for his or her abllity to apply Independent judgment to Issues before the board and to act In the best
Interest of the company and Its shareholders;

b) does not represent a substantial shareholding of TROPICAL;

c) Has no close relatives who are significant shareholders of TROPICAL; and

d) does not have an employment relationship with TROPICAL or Its parent companles.

These definlfions are generally consistent with those outlined In the PSOJ Corporate Governance Code.

The Board has established an Audit and Risk Commiitee and a Remuneration Commlittee. Each commlttee must comprise
a mdajorlty of Independent, non-executlve directors and at least one member with an accounting or financlal background.
The members are as follows.

Audit and Risk Committee Renumeration Committee
Caryl Fenton (Chair) Marc Ramsay (Chair)
Alexander Melville Alexander Melville

Ricardo Hutchinson Caryl Fenton

Marc Ramsay

Jody Gager-Rose
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Section 1 | Governance, Risk & ESG REVENUE GROSSPROFT  PRORT EBTDA AFTER TAX
$6.44B $2.36B $527.0M $785.1M $59.7M
YOY Increase YOY Increase YOY Increase YQY Increase YOY Increase
14.6% 26.4% 25.8% 82.8% NM.
MENTOR

We also have a well-respected mentor, Mr. Jeffrey Hall, who serves as the Executive Vice Chairman and Chlef Executive
Officer of Pan Jamalca Group Ltd. Mr. Hall serves as Chalrman of Kingston Wharves Lid., Blue Power Group Ltd. and
Lumber Depot Ltd. He Is also a director of Jamaica Producers Group Lid, Sagicor Group Jamalca Lid, Sagicor Life
Jamaica Ltd, Sagicor Bank Jamaica Ltd, Saglcor Invesiments Jamalca Lid., Eppley Carlbbean Property Fund Lid, and
subsldiarles and other assoclated companles of the Pan Jamalca Group. Mr. Hall previously served as Chairman of Scofia
Group Jamaica Lid, and as a director of the Jamalca Stock Exchange, the Bank of Jamaica, the Instliute of Jamaica, the
National Housing Trust and JAMPRO. In 2022, Mr. Hall was awarded the Order of Distinction, Commander Class by the
Government of Jamaica. He recelved his Bachelor of Arts degree In Economics from Washington University, his Master’s In
Public Policy from Harvard University and his Jurls Doctorate from Harvard Law School.

The Audit Committee belleves that the continued retention of KPMG as our external auditor Is In the best Interest of the
company and our shareholders, and will recommend to our shareholders the approval of the selection of KPMG as our
external auditor for the 2025/2026 financlal year at our next Annual General Meeting scheduled In April 2026.

RANSPARENCY AND ACCOUNTABILITY
Directors must abstain from conflicts of Interest. Upon appointment and annudally thereafter, directors must disclose thelr
Inferests to assess potentlal conflicts hindering thelr abllity to fulfil thelr duties. Furthermore, directors must promptly update
thelr disclosures for any changes. If a conflict cannot be avolded, directors must promptly notify the Board or Chalrman
fo Initiate appropriate resolution measures. Members of the Board and designated commiitees are mandated to aitend
and actively participate In meetings. Our board of directors consistently demonstrates thelr commitment to fulfiling thelr
dutles by actlvely aitending and engaging In Board and committee meetings.

Name of Director Executive (E) Board Date of Appointment
“*Manager’ Non- Executive (NE) | General Meefing | Meeting | Committee | to Board

Number of Meetings

for the Year . 4 4

Caryl Fenton NE 1 3 3 13 January 2020
Marc Ramsay NE 1 4 1 13 January 2020
Ricardo Hutchinson NE 1 4 4 02 June 2017
Marc Melville (chairman) E 1 4 - 0l Aprll 1996
Alexander Melville E 1 4 4 01 April 1996
Daniel Melville E 1 4 - 19 May 2004
Itamar Frankental NE 0 3 - 12 February 2024
Andrew Cramer NE 0 3 - 12 February 2024
Jody Gager-Rose NE 0 4 12 February 2024

*Reshando Mais

—
1
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The Company’s graduation to the Main Market of the Jamalca Stock Exchange during FY2025 represents a meaningful
step forward In Its governance and fransparency framework. In line with the higher disclosure, compllance, and oversight
standards assoclated with Main Market listing, the Board continued to sirengthen governance practices during the year,
Including the appoiniment of additional Independent directors, enhanced board and committee oversight, and expanded
fransparency In financlal and non-financlal reporting. These actlons reinforce the Company’s commitment fo strong
corporate governance and accountabllity to shareholders and other stakeholders.

RISK MANAGEMENT

During FY2025, risk prioritles were closely aligned with strengthening the Group's capltal structure, Improving liquidity
resllience, and reducing exposure to reflnancing and execution risks.

Key risk areas and mifigation actions Included:

« Equity raise and deployment of proceeds toward short-term debt reduction
* Improved working capltal discipline and restoration of posifive operating cash flow

« Actlve monitoring of maturitles and liquidity headroom

* Reduced rellance on shori-term borrowings

* Focus on funding structures dligned with asset lives

« Evaluation of asset-backed structures, Including sale-and-leaseback

* Diversifled revenue streams across Jurlsdictions

« Actlve monitoring of currency exposures

« Alignment of funding currencles with underlylng cash flows, where feasible
« Strengthened recelvables oversight, customer limits, and monltoring

* Ongoing policy review to reduce default exposure

* Product diversification and continued emphasls on quality and service

« Operational efficiency Inifiatives to protect margins

« Investments In Infrastructure, fleet governance, systems resllience, and compliance

« Strengthened Internal conirols to reduce disruption risk
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* Disclplined Investiment evaluation and Board oversight

* Use of confingent earn-out siructures to manage acquisition risk

ESG

Troplcal Battery approaches ESG as an operafional and governance Imperative. ESG considerations are embedded Into
dally operations, regulatory compllance, and risk management.

* Licensed by NEPA as a collection cenire for used batterles
* Collected and exported 696 metric tonnes of spent batterles during FY2025

* Expanded ULAB storage capaclty to support responsible handling and export

* Maintalned sirong safety performance through fraining and hazard assessments

« Supported community Iniflatives focused on education, environmental awareness, and national health programmes.

* ESG risks are reviewed within enferprise risk management processes

* Board oversight ensures ESG remains aligned with financlal and operational decision-making
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FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS & PRESENTATION

FY2025 reflects a year of financlal recovery, Improved operating performance, and balance sheet consolidation following
a perlod of significant Investment and expansion. Key highlights for the year Include:

GRAPHICAL FINANCIAL OVERVIEW (FIVE-YEAR TREND):

Revenue increased to $6.44 billion, representing a 14.6% year-over-year gain from $5.62 blillon In FY2024. This growth
was driven by sustalned demand across the Group's core battery distribution business, Improved product avallabllity, and
stronger execution within the Jamalcan market. International subsidiarles dlso contributed positively, reflecting deeper
market penetration and the continued maturation of overseas operations.

Revenue (JMD) vs Growth Rate %

Revenue 3$B N Growth %

100.7%

14.6%

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
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$6.44B $2.36B | $527.0M | $785.IM $59.7M
YOY Increase YOY Increase YOY Increase YOY Increase ' YOY Increase
14.6% 26.6% 25.8% 82.8% NM,

Gross profit increased to $2.36 billion, representing a 26.4% year-over-year rise from $1.86 bllion In FY2024. This
Improvement was driven by enhanced pricing discipline, a more favorable product mix, and ftargeted cost management
Initiatives across procurement, logistics, and operations. The resulting expansion In gross margin highlights the resllience of
the Group's core businesses and reflects a continued Improvement In the quadlity and sustainabllity of earnings.

Gross Profit (JMD) vs Growth Profit %

1 Gross Profit sSM N\ Gross Profit %

$2.500M $2.356M 40%
36.6%
33.2%
109 31.3% =
$2.000M ik $1,864M
30%
25%
$1.500M
20%
$1,000M $876M 15%
$776M
$619M -
$500M
5%
$0M 0%
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

For the Flscal year ended September 20, 2025
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EBITDA Increased to $785.1 million, represenfing a 82.8% year-over-year improvement from $429.6 millon In FY2024.
The expansion reflects strong operating leverage as revenue growth cuipaced Increases In operating costs, alongside
Improved gross margins driven by better product mix, pricing discipline, and supply chaln execution. EBITDA was further
supported by higher operating Income, Including the recognltion of certain non-recurring Items during the year, which
collectively strengthened reported performance.

EBITDA (JMD)

I eeitDA \/ Exponetial (EBITDA)
$900M
$800M $785M
$700M
$600M "
®
$430M o &
$500M L4
®
o
®
$400M P [
[ J
[ 4 L -
-
-
-
—_— SIIM_ _ @@
$100M
$0.0M
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

For the Fiscal year ended September 20, 2025
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Net profit for the year totaled $59.7 million, compared to a net loss of ($121.4) million In FY2024, representing a
year-over-year Improvement of approximately $181 million. This furnaround was driven by stronger operating
performance, higher gross profit, and Improved operating leverage, partially offset by elevated finance costs during
the perlod. The refurn to profitabllity reflects the combined Impact of disciplined cost control, margin recovery, and
Improved executlon across the Group's core and Infernatlonal operations.

Profit After Tax vs Dividends Paid (JMD)

Profit before Tax . Dividends paid
£250M
$20C
. $52.0M
25.3M
$13.0M .
— = 3001

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
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AT AT ™ o
$6.44B $2.36B | $527.0M | $785.IM $59.7M
YOY Increase YOY Increase YOY Increase YOY Increase ' YOY Increase
14.6% 26.6% 25.8% 82.8% NM,

Net current assets Improved fo $270.9 million, compared to net current llabllifles of ($34.7) millon In FY2024, representing
a $305.7 million year-over-year improvement. This sirengthening reflects the restoration of positive working capital,
supported by Improved operating cash flows, tighter working capltal management, and balance sheet deleveraging
during the year. The Improvement was parfially offset by the reclassification of a portion of long-term debt Info current
maturitles, which Increased current llabllitles but did not materially weaken overall liquidity.

Net Current Assets (JMD) vs Current Ratio%

. Net Current Assets N Current Ratio

$1.4B 4.0
$1.2B
3.7
$1.2B 35
$1.0B 30
$0.8B 25
$0.6B 20
$0.4B 1.5
11

$0.2B 1.0
$0.0B 05
-$0.2B 0

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

For the Fiscal year ended Sepfember 20, 2025
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Shareholders’ equity: $1.60 billion, an Increase of approximately 52.3% from $1.05 bilion In FY2024, strengthened by the
Additlonal Public Offering completed during the year and the return to profitabllity.

Shareholder's Equity vs. Debt (JMD)

'_ Shareholder’s Equity - Debt f\d,r Exponential (Shareholder’s Equity)

$6.0B

$5.0B
$4.8B

$3.0B

$2.0B

$1.0B

$0.0B

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

For the Fiscal year ended September 20, 2025
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$6.44B $d ':56B $527.0M $785.1M $59. ?M
YOY Increase 56 YO Increase YOY Increcse YOY Incre
14.6% 25 1‘;’ B2.8% N:vi

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (FIVE-YEAR TREND)

The table below highlights selected financlal and operating performance Indicators over the last five years, with particular
emphasls on changes between FY2024 and FY2025.

Audited

Cash Conversion

DIO + DSO - DPO 1432 156.4 1867 92.4 1228
CycleA (CCC) =
Return on Capital _ (Operating FIDRY Remne) 10.7% 137% 101% 9.8% 169%

Employed goos 30% or figher) (Revenue/Operating Assets)

Current Currenf Assets 29 37 23 10 11
Ratio = /Current Liabilities

Debt _ Total Debt 05 0.4 0.4 50 30
to Equity - /Equity

Debt _ Total Debt 24 24 2.3 n7 63
to EBITDA = /12 mths. EBITDA

Debt Service
Coverage Ratio (oscr)

Net Operating Income / Debt Service 35 43 0.6 11 30
[12 mths. Interest Payments
+ Princlpal Repayments]

Operation KPIs | |

g:l'z'; ‘:S:‘:I'Ie:g iy - uﬁ:za ::d‘;“;‘lez?a?";‘;“‘ 107.0 924 103.0 105.5 150
gtg:hP:‘;::I?D o - {?c"gf“; 2.;'2';2"’52.5.?1“’?!2 868 7511 840 138.8 135.1
g::f; ;::f:;;o(r;m) i PR riodcilbipodr L LI 1230 1391 167.7 1258 1429
Inventory Turnover Cost of Goods Sold 23 23 20 23 27

Ratio
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AUDITED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited consolidated finandlal statements for Troplcal Battery Company Limited for the year ended September 30, 2025,
together with the Independent auditor’s report, follow this sectlon. These statements have been prepared In accordance
with Internafional Financial Reporfing Standards (IFRS) and Include comparative Information for the prior year.

Detalled notes to the financial statements provide additional information on accounting policles, segment performance,
risk exposures, and related-party transactions.
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KPMG

KPMG

Chartered Accountants
P.O. Box 436

6 Duke Street

Kingston

Jamaica, W.1.

+1 (876) 922 6640
firmmail@kpmg.com.jm

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Members of
TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tropical Battery Company Limited
and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) and the separate financial statements of the Company,
set out on pages 8 to 87, which comprise the Group’s and Company’s statement of financial
position as at September 30, 2025, the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ net equity and cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes, comprising material accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group and Company as at September 30, 2025, and of the Group’s
and Company’s financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IFRS Accounting Standards) and in the manner required by the Jamaican
Companies Act.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

TROPICAL BATTERY Annual Report 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONT'D)

To the Members of
TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
Basis for Opinion (continued)

We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants including International Independence Standards (IESBA Code), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matter

A key audit matter is a matter that, in our professional judgment, was of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. This matter was
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

Impairment of goodwill

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group has recognised goodwill | In performing our audit in respect of this

in the amount of $2,965,129,196 matter, in the main, we performed the

(2024 $2,898,755,987). following procedures:

The annual impairment testing of e Engaging our own valuation specialist to

goodwill is considered to be a key perform an independent assessment and

audit matter due to the complexity of evaluate the appropriateness of discount

the accounting requirements and the rates applied and the valuation model

significant judgement required in used.

determining the assumptions to be

used to estimate the recoverable s Evaluating the appropriateness of the

amount. The recoverable amount of assumptions applied to key inputs such as

the Cash Generating Unit of which sales volumes, operating costs, inflation,

goodwill forms part has been derived growth rates which included comparing

from discounted cashflow models. these inputs with externally derived data as
well as our own assessments based on our
knowledge of the Group and the industry.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONT'D)

To the Members of
TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Impairment of goodwill (continued)

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
These models use several key In performing our audit in respect of this
assumptions, including estimates of | matter, in the main, we performed the

future sales volumes and prices, following procedures (continued):

operating costs, terminal growth
rates and the weighted average cost | « Performing our own sensitivity analysis

of capital (discount rate). which included assessing the effect of
reasonably possible reductions in growth

See notes 3(i) and 9(c) of the rates and forecast cashflows to evaluate

financial statements. the impact on the recoverable amount.

o Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures in
the financial statements including
disclosures of key assumptions and
judgements.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the annual report but does not include the financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The annual report is expected to be made
available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

TROFICAL BATTERY Annual Report 2025 6“:'
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONT'D)

To the Members of
TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the Jamaican
Companies Act, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for
assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group and/or the
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s and the
Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is

included in the Appendix to this auditors’ report. This description, which is located at
pages 6 to 7, forms part of our auditors’ report.

J
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONT'D)

To the Members of
TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Report on additional matters as required by the Jamaican Companies Act

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our
knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been maintained, so far as appears from
our examination of those records, and the financial statements, which are in agreement
therewith, give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Act in the manner

required.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is
Sandra Edwards.

KPWNE

Chartered Accountants
Kingston, Jamaica

February 10, 2026
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONT'D)

To the Members of
TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ report

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s
internal control.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to maodify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group and the Company to cease to continue as
a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

¢ Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

TROPICAL BATTERY Annual Report 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONT'D)

To the Members of
TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ report (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

67




Section 13 | Audited Financial Statements

8
TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED
Group Statement of Financial Position
September 30. 2025
Notes 2025 2024
Restated®
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 4 211,453,629 461.674.349
Accounts recervable 5 1.384.624.063 974 838 458
Due from related parties 6[b.(1)] 464,519,018 408.776.540
Due from parent company 6[b,(11)] 49,428,122 56,112,124
Inventories 7 1,537,435,933 1,629.966,712
Taxation recoverable 947.208 974.962
3.648 408 063 3532343 145
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 8 1.512.504.580 1,431.199.470
Short-term loans 17(ii) 1,426,255,717 1,986,216,962
Due to related parties 6[b,(vi)] 16,615,192 -
Current portion of lease liabilities 11(b) 55,520,133 51,372,228
Current portion of long-term loans 17(i) 362,068,460 98.281,573
Taxation payable 4.514.205 -
3.377.478.287 3,567.070.233
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES}) _270.929.776 (__34,727.088)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Other receivables 5(b)(1) 20,622,993 -
Intangible assets 9 64,389,589 93.831.768
Goodwill 9 2,965,129,196 2,898,755 987
Property, plant and equipment 10 1,303,277.264 1,214,278,082
Right-of-use assets 11(a) 343,769,598 74,081,728
Employee benefits assets 12(a) - 33.211.000
Interest in joint venture 6[b,(vii)] 5,000,000 5,000,000
Deferred tax asset 14(a) 38.202.781 -
4.740.391.421 4,319.158.565
$5.011.321.197 4.284.431.477
Represented by:
SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY
Share capital 15 907,459,779 254013268
Capital contribution 16 459.207.861 459,207,861
Accumulated profit 271604917 289.451.062
Foreign currency translation (___85.146.783) 5.270.382
Equity attributable to owners of the company 1,553,125.772 1,007.942.573
Non-controlling interest 29(a) 44.791.684 41.769.031
1,597.917.456 1,049.711.604
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to fellow subsidiary 6[b.(v)] 517,516,278 500,000,000
Lease liabilities 11(b) 299,087,608 28.690.562
Long-term loans 17(1) 2,530,044 855 2,688.974 352
Employee benefits obligation 12(a) 66,755,000 -
Deferred tax liability 14(a) - 17.054.959
3.413.403.741 3.234.719.873
$5,011.321.197 4,284.431477

The financial statements, on pages 8 to 87 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February 10, 2026

and signed on its behalf by:
Director A : '\')\S—L/Q—Qf Director

Aléxander Melville

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

* Restated, see note 30
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Group Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Year ended September 30, 2025

Gross operating revenue
Cost of operating revenue

Gross profit

Administration, marketing and selling expenses
Operating profit
Other income
Profit before depreciation and amortisation,
net finance costs and taxation
Depreciation and amortisation

Profit before net finance costs and taxation

Interest income recognised using the effective
interest rate method

Finance costs

Gain on foreign exchange

Net finance costs

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Taxation credit/(expense)

Profit/(loss)for the year

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of Tropical Battery Company Limited
Non-controlling interest

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation
Re-measurement (loss)/gam on employee
benefit obligation/assets
Related taxation on re-measurement

Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of taxation
Total comprehensive loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
Owners of Tropical Battery Company Limited
Non-controlling interest

Earnings per stock unit (Basic)

Earnings per stock unit (Diluted)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

* Restated, see note 30

| Report 2025

9
Notes 2025 2024

Restated*

18 6,442 678 918 5,622,301 471
19(a) (4,086,925 937) (3.758.152.425)
2.355,752,981 1,864,149 046
19(b) (1.828.777.968) (1.445.334.820)
526,975,013 418,814,226

19(c) 258.162.844 10.833.435
785,137,857 429.647 661
9.10,11 (157,524 816) (_110.398.338)
627.613.041 319.249 323

44235219 84.621,784
( 657.486432) ( 527.401328)

32.655.547 16.575.099
20 (__580,595.666) (_426,204.445)
47,017,375 ( 106,955,122)
21(a) 12,698,507 (__14.488.138)
§ 59715882 (_ 121.443.260)
56,322,855 ( 154,483,017)

29(b) 3,393,027 33.039.757
59,715,882 (_ 121.443.260)

( 90.,787,541) 689 520

12() ( 98.892,000) 17,706,000
14(b) 24.723.000 ( 4.426.500)
( 164.956.541) 13.969.020
S(105,240,659) ( 107.474,240)
( 108,263,312) ( 135,929,527)

29(b) 3.022.653 28.455 287
$(_105.240.659) (___107.474.240)
22 3.9¢ ( 11.7¢)
250 39¢ ( 11.7¢)
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Group Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended September 30, 2025

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) for the vear
Adjustments to reconcile profit/(loss) for the year
to net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities:

Employee benefits
Depreciation and amortisation
Taxation (credit)/expense
Interest on loans
Interest on lease liabilities
Interest ncome
Amortisation of debt issuance costs
Unrealised foreign exchange loss/(gains)
Gain on disposal of property plant and equipment

Fair value of contingent consideration recognised in profit or loss

Equity settled share-based payments
Foreign currency translation

Changes in working capiial:
Accounts receivable
Due from related parties
Due from parent company
Inventories
Other assets
Accounts payable

Cash generated by/(used in) operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Taxation paid

Net cash provided by/{used n) in operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Acquisition of business
Payment on contingent consideration
Acquisition of mtangible assets
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Net cash used mn investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term loans
Repayment of long-term loans
Proceeds from short-term loan
Repayment of short-term loan
Debt issuance costs incurred
Proceeds from issue of shares net of transaction fees
Purchase of weasury shares
Payment of lease liabilities

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of foreign currency on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

* Restated, see note 30

Notes

9.10,11

21
20
20
20

17(k)

19(c)
19c)
19(b)

28(a)(i)
9

10

17(k)
17(k)
17(k)
17(k)
17(k)
1S
15
11(d)

(]
=
()
N

59,715,882

1,074,000
157,524,816
( 12,698.507)
596,934,470
11,385,588
( 44.235.219)
44,128,066

2024
Restated™

{ 121.443.260)

( 1,639,000)
110,398,338
14.488,138
484,503,971
13,396,665

( 84.621.784)

(  1617.977)

39,699,251
( 4.672.283) ( 2.360.575)
(235,286.784) 1,820,146
26,766,856 80,725,468
(_43.708.364) (__75.079.517)
596,627,772 427,570,613
(430,408,598) ( 35,632.360)
( 1L111.233) ( 467,783,360)
6,684,002 ( 11.953.593)
92,530,779 ( 17LR810.891)
= 1,526,256

271.982.840

244 757 899

526,305.542
44,235,219

(497.194,062)

(13.294.364)

(  13.325.436)

84,621,784
( 443.497.513)
( 5.704,038)

60,052,335

4,976,419

(142.616.014)

(_377.905.203)

14,063,898
(3,068 609,990)
( 99,002.724)
( 5.200522)
(_112.647.269)

(137.639.595)

(3.271.405.607)

6.450,367
( 98.281.573)
80,611,750
(721,853,507
643,456,921
( 16,777.266)
(59.632.243)

4,182,484,670
(  96,502,888)

1,392,266,700
(1.392.266.700)
(  86,384,129)

(__78.267.185)

(166,025.551)

3,921.330,468

(243,612.811)
( 6,607.909
461,674,349

272,019,658
206,735
189 447956

$211.453.629

461.674,349

$211.453,629

461,674,349
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12
TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED
Company Statement of Financial Position
September 30. 2025
Notes 2025 2024
Restated®
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 4 108,806,648 121,410,843
Accounts receivable 5 367.954,512 411.406.917
Due from related parties 6[b,(1)] 440,174 415 408,776,540
Due from parent company 6[b.(11)] 49,428,122 56,112,124
Due from subsidiaries 6[b,(111)] RO1.890.020 472.412.611
Current portion of loan to subsidiary 6[b.(iv})] 1,233.912.584 1,213.143.657
Inventores 7 981,786,351 1,029,920,008
Taxation recoverable 947.298 974.963
3.984.899.950 3.714.157.663
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 8 957,358,986 792.112.641
Short-term loans 17(11) 1,185.868,576 1,748,164,562
Current portion of lease liabilities 11(b) 5,093,084 4,726,178
Current portion of long-term loans 17(1) 356,494,380 98,281,573
Taxation payable 4.514.205 -
2.509.329.231 2.643.284 954
NET CURRENT ASSETS 1.475.570.719 1.070.872.709
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Other receivables S(b)1) 20,622,993 -
Loan to subsidiary 6[b,(iv)] 2,162,126,727 1,938.098,558
Intangible assets 9 38.133.005 38.133.005
Property, plant and equipment 10 1,209,370,049 1,195.600,849
Right-of-use assets 11(a) 24,044,886 30,358.699
Employee benefits assets 12(a) - 33,211,000
Interest in subsidiaries 13 141.709.078 114942222
Interest in joint venture 6[b,(vii)] 5,000,000 5,000,000
Deferred tax asset 14(a) 38.202.781 -
3.639.209.519 3.355.344.333
$5,114,780,238 4,426,217,042
Represented by:
SHARFHOILDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 15 924.237.045 254,013,268
Capital contribution 16 459,207 861 459.207 861
Accumulated profit _629.687.846 _ 507634361
2,013,132.752 1,220.855.490
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to fellow subsidiary 6[b.(v)] 500,000,000 500,000,000
Lease liabilities 11(b) 22,333,940 28.690.562
Long-term loans 17(1) 2.512,558.546 2,659.616,031
Employee benefits obligation 12(a) 66.755.000 -
Deferred tax liability 14(a) - 17.054.959

3.101.647.486
$5.114.780,238

3.205.361.552
4.426.217.042

The financial statements, on pages 8 to 87, were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February 10, 2026 and

signed on its behalf by:

A . MJ_M—QF Director

Alexander Melville

Director

Marc Melvifle

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

* Restated. see note 30
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Company Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Year ended September 30, 2025

Notes

Gross operating revenue 18
Cost of operating revenue 19(a)
Gross profit
Administration, marketing and selling

expenses 19(b)
Operating profit
Other income 19(¢c)

Profit before depreciation and amortisation, net finance costs
and taxation

Depreciation and amortisation 10,11

Profit before net finance costs and taxation

Interest income recognised using the effective
interest rate method

Finance costs

Gain on foreign exchange

Net finance costs 20

Profit before taxation

Taxation credit/(expense) 21(a)

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Re-measurement (loss)/gain on employee
benefit obligation/assets
Related taxation on re-measurement

12(6)
14(b)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of taxation

Total comprehensive income for the year

13
2025 2024
Restated*
3,124,775484  2,974,796,573
(2.092.667.185) (2.103.832.356)
1,032.108,299 870,964,217
(_730.268.361) (_727.163.155)

301,839,938
10.897.019

143.801.062
11.317.908

312,736,957 155,118,970

(_ 65.074.913) (_ 64.655.544)
247.662.044 90.463.426
536.403,379 475.528 465
( 616,728,691) ( 515,076,830)
2,952,132 26.555.812
(__77.373.180) (__12.992,553)
170,288 864 77.470.873
25.933,621 (__ 8.940.578)
196.222 485 68.530.295

( 98.892,000) 17,706,000
24.723.000 (_ 4.426.500)
(_74.169.000) 13.279.500
S 122,053,485 81,809,795

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

* Restated, see note 30




Section 13 | Audited Financial Statements

TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Company Statement of Changes in Sharcholders’ Equity

Year ended September 30, 2025

Share Capital Accumulated
capital contribution profit Total
(note 15) (note 16)
Balances as at September 30, 2023 164,287 800 459,207 861 425824 566  1.049.320,227
Restated profit for the year - - 68,530,295 68,530,295
Other comprehensive income:
Re-measurement income on employee
benefit asset. net of taxation - - 13.279.500 13.279.500
Total other comprehensive income - - 13,279,500 13.279.500
Restated total comprehensive income - - 81.809,795 81.809.795
Transaction with owners of the company:
Equity-settled share based payments 89.725.468 - - 89.725.468
Restated balances as at September 30, 2024  254.013.268 459.207.861 507.634.361 1.220,855.490
Profit for the year - - 196,222 485 196,222 485

Other comprehensive (loss)/income:
Re-measurement (loss)/income on
employee benefit obligation/assets,

net of taxation - - (_74.169,000) (__ 74.169.000)

Total other comprehensive loss - - (_74.169,000) (__ 74.169,000)
Total comprehensive income - - 122.053.485 122.053.485

Transaction with owners of the company
(note 15):

Issue of shares less transaction fees 043456921 - - 643,456,921
Equity-settled share-based payments 26,760,856 - - 26.766.856
670,223,777 - - 670.223.777
Balances as at September 30, 2025 $924,237,045 459207861 629,687,846  2,013,132,752

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements,

* Restated, see note 30
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Company Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended September 30, 2025

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year
Adjustments to reconeile net profit for the year
to net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities:
Employee benefits
Depreciation and amortisation
Taxation (credit)/expense
Interest on loans
Interest on lease liabilities
Interest income
Amortisation of debt issuance costs
Unrealised foreign exchange loss/(gains)
Gain on disposal of property plant and equipment
Equity settled share-based payments

Changes in working capital:
Accounts recervable
Due from related parties
Due from parent company
Inventories
Accounts payable

Cash generated by/(used in)/operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Taxation paid

10,11
21
20
20
20
17(k)

19(c)
19(b)

Net cash provided by/(used in) m operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Interest in subsidiaries
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term loans
Repayment of long-term loans
Proceeds from short-term loan
Repayment of short-term loan
Debt issuance costs incurred
Proceeds from issue of shares net of transaction fees
Loans subsidiary
Payment of lease liabilities

Net cash (used mn)/provided by financing activities

Net decrease m cash and cash equivalents
Effect of foreign currency on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents

17(k)
17(k)
17(k)
17(k)
17(k)
15
6(b)(iv)
11(d)

4

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

* Restated, see note 30
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2025

196,222 485

1,074,000
65.074.913

( 25,933,621)
594,387,048
2,258,234

(536,403,379)
44,128,066
39,699,251

( 3.242,000)

2024
Restated*

68,530,295

( 1.639,000)
64,655,544
8,940,578
485,520,818
12,667,257

( 475,528.465)

( 1,617.977)
( 2360575)
45322312

377,264,997

22.829.412
(360,875,284)
6,684,002
48,133,657
129.161 288

204,490,787

21.,481,121)
959,797.175)

11,953,593)

99,773,187)
362.241.986

———

223,198,072
426,370,938
(485.519,286)
( 59.249)

( 526,272,303)
423.950,152

( 443.784.952)

( 156.479)

163.990.475

(_546263,582)

3,242,000

(_72,530.300)

2,360,575
( 1,398,401)
(_108.112.227)

(_69.288.300)

(_107.150.053)

( 98,281,573)
(639,793,648)
643,456,921

(__5.987.943)

3,942,734.,250
( 85,802,888)

1,392,266,700
(1,392,266,700)
( 86,384,129)

(3,151,242 215)
(_25482.174)

(100,606.243)

593.822.844

(5.904,068)
( 6.700,127)
121.410.843

( 59.590,791)
( 505,154)
181,506,788

$108.806.648

121,410,843

$108,806,648

121,410,843
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
September 30, 2025

Corporate structure and principal activities

Tropical Battery Company Limited (the Company) is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica, and
its registered office is at 30 Automotive Parkway, Kingston 20.

The Company stock units were listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) Junior Market on
September 29, 2020. Tt is a 56% (2024: 75%) subsidiary of Dai Diverze (Jamaica) Limited (parent

company).
On August 19, 2025 the company moved from JSE Junior Market to the JSE Main Market.

Dai Diverze (Jamaica) Limited (parent company) is incorporated in Jamaica and is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Diverze Assets Inc. (ultimate parent company), a company incorporated in St. Lucia.

These financial statements present the results of operations and financial position of the Company
and its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as “the Group™.

On January 30, 2024, the Company, through its subsidiary Tropical Battery (USA) LLC, acquired
100% of the shares in Rose Electronics Distributing Company LLC (Rose Batteries).

The Company’s subsidiarics are as follows:

Domicile of
Incorporation

Tropical Battery (USA) LLC United States of America 100%
Rose Electronics Distributing Company LLC United States of America 100%
Energy Sales LLC - Dormant United States of America 100%
Tropical Mobility Limited Jamaica 95%
Energy Sales LLC (Dormant) United States of America 100 %
Tropical Renewable Energy Limited Jamaica 95%
Tropical Finance Limited Jamaica 95%
Kaya Energy Group, SRL Dominican Republic 51%

The Group’s Joint Venture is as follows:
Domicile of

incorporation
EnRvate Limited Jamaica 50%

The Group’s primary activities are selling and distributing energy storage solutions, including
automotive and renewable energy batteries, across Jamaica and the Caribbean while also
providing custom battery assemblies for mission-critical applications through Rose Batteries in
the U.S. The Group offers renewable energy solutions and electric mobility sales and services. It
is a major exporter of spent batteries for recycling and has expanded into high-growth markets,
leveraging investments like Kaya Energy and Rose Batteries to strengthen its presence in the
renewable energy and energy storage sectors.
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

2 Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance:

The financial statements as at and for the year ended September 30, 2025 are prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and comply with the provisions of the Jamaican Companies Act.

New and amended standards issued that became effective during the year:

Certain new and amended standards that were issued came into effect during the current
financial year. None of these standards had a significant effect on these financial
statements.

New and amended standards issued and interpretations that are not effective:

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, certain new and amended standards
and interpretations have been issued which are not yet effective and which the Group has

not yet adopted:

@ IERS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, 1s effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027,

Under current IFRS Accounting Standards, companies use different formats to
present their results, making it difficult for investors to compare financial
performance across companies. [IFRS 18 promotes a more structured income
statement. In particular, it introduces a newly defined “operating profit’ subtotal and
a requirement for all income and expenses to be allocated between three new distinet
categories (Operating, Investing and Financing) based on a Company’s main
business activities.

All companies are required to report the newly defined ‘operating profit’ subtotal —
an important measure for investors” understanding of a Company’s operating results
—i.e. investing and financing activities are specifically excluded. This means that the
results of equity-accounted investees are no longer part of operating profit and are
presented in the ‘investing” category.

IFRS 18 also requires companies to analyse their operating expenses directly on the
face of the income statement — either by nature, by function or using a mixed
presentation. Under the new standard, this presentation provides a “useful structured
summary’ of those expenses. If any items are presented by function on the face of
the income statement (c.g. cost of sales), then a Company provides more detailed
disclosures about their nature.

Management’s mitial assessment, however, revealed that IFRS 18 presentation and

disclosure of financial statements is likely to impact the presentation of the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

TROPICAL BATTERY Annual Report 2025 ??
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

2 Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued)

(a)  Statement of compliance (continued):

New and amended standards issued and interpretations that are not effective
(continued):

. Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments —
Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and 1FRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures. The amendments apply for reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026. The TASB has amended IFRS 9 to clarify when a financial assct or a
financial liability is recognised and derecognised and to provide an exception for
certain financial liabilities settled using an electronic payment system. The exception
allows companies to derecognise its financial liabilities before the settlement date,
when it uses an electronic payment system that meets all of the following criteria:

(1) no practical ability to withdraw, stop or cancel the payment instruction;

(11) no practical ability to access the cash to be used for settlement as a result of
the payment instruction; and

(iii)  the settlement risk associated with the electronic payment system is
insignificant

The Group is assessing the impact that these amendments will have on its future financial
statements.

(b) Basis of preparation:
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of primary economic environment in which the entity operates, referred
to as the functional currency. The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Jamaica dollars (S), which is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the
inclusion of defined benefits asset and obligation at fair value of plan assets less the present

value of the defined benefits asset and obligation as explained in note 3(n).

The material accounting policies stated in paragraph (c¢) and note 3 below conform in all
material respects with IFRS Accounting Standards.

(c) Basis of consolidation:
(1)  Business combinations:

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the
acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

2 Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued)

(¢) Basis of consolidation (continued):
(1)  Business combinations (continued):

The Group accounts for business combination under the acquisition method when
the acquired set of activities and assets meet the definition of a business and control
is transferred to the Group. In determining whether a particular set of activities and
assets is a business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets and activities
acquired include at a minimum, an input and substantive process and whether the
acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.

The Group has the option to apply a ‘concentration test” that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets 1s not a business. The
optional concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or Group of similar
identifiable assets.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

e the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

e the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquired entity;
plus

e if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-
existing interest in the acquired entity; less

e the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of
pre-existing relationships. Such amounts generally are recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity
securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are
expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition
date.

(11) Subsidiaries:

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. The Group “controls” an entity
when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The financial statements of the subsidiary are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control
ceases. The subsidiary companies are listed in note 1 and are referred to as
“subsidiaries” or “subsidiary” in these financial statements.
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

2 Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued)

(¢) Basis of consolidation (continued):
(i1)  Subsidiaries (continued):

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. The Group “controls™ an entity
when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The financial statements of the subsidiary are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control
ceases. The subsidiary companies are listed in note 1 and are referred to as
“subsidiaries” or “subsidiary” in these financial statements.

The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial results of the Company
and ifs subsidiaries prepared to September 30, 2025.

Investment in subsidiaries is measured in the financial statements of the Company at
cost. less impairment losses, if any.

All significant inter-Company transactions are eliminated.

(i11) Loss of control:

On the loss of control, the Group derecognises the asscts and liabilities of the
subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related
to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised
in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such
interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost.

(iv) Joint venture:

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake
an economic activity that is subject to joint control over the financial and operating
policies. The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the total
recognised gains and losses of joint ventures on the equity accounting basis.

If the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in a joint venture the Group's
carrying amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued,
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of a joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently reports
gains, the Group resumes recognising its share of those gains only after its share of
gains equals the share of losses not recognised.
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

2 Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued)

(¢) Basis of consolidation (continued):
(v) Non-controlling interests (NCI):

NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
at the date of acquisition. Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the
non-controlling interests, even if doing so causes the non-controlling interest to have
a deficit balance.

(vi) Transactions eliminated in consolidation;

Balances and transactions between companies within the Group, and any unrealised
gains arising from those transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements:

The preparation of the financial statements to conform to IFRS Accounting Standards
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date and
the income and expenses for the year then ended. Actual amounts could differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and assumptions underlying them, as well as judgements are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the next financial year and judgements that have a significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements, include the following:

(1)  Pension and other post-retirement benefits:

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position and profit or loss for
pension and other post-retirement benefits are determined actuarially using several
assumptions. The primary assumptions used in determining the amounts recognised
include expected long-term return on plan assets, the discount rate used to determine
the present value of estimated future cash flows required to settle the pension and
other post-retirement obligations and the expected rate of increase in medical costs
for post-retirement medical benefits.
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

2 Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued)

(d)

Use of estimates and judgements (continued):

Estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the next financial year and judgements that have a significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements, include the following (continued):

(1) Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued);

The expected return on plan assets considers the long-term returns, asset allocation
and future estimates of long-term investment returns; the discount rate is determined
based on the estimate of yield on long-term government securities that have maturity
dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligation; in the absence of such
instruments in Jamaica, it has been necessary to estimate the rate by extrapolating
from the longest-tenure security on the market. The estimate of expected rate of
increase in medical costs is determined based on inflationary factors. Any changes
in the foregoing assumptions will affect the amounts recorded in the financial
statements for these obligations (see note 12).

(i1)  Impairment of goodwill

Impairment of goodwill is dependent upon management’s internal assessment of
future cash flows from the cash-generating units that gave rise to the goodwill and
intangible asscts. Those internal assessments determine the amount recoverable
from the cash generating units and are sensitive to the discount rates used, as well as
the economic assumptions of growth [see note 9 (c)].

3. Materal accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, bank balances and short-term investments with
maturities of three months or less from the date of placement and are measured at amortised
cost. The short-term investments are highly liquid, readily convertible to known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and are held for the purpose
of meeting short-term commitments.

Accounts receivable:

Trade and other receivables are initially measured at the transaction price and subsequently
at amortised cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(c) Related parties:

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity which 1s preparing its
financial statements (referred to in IAS 24 Relfated Party Disclosures as the “reporting
entity”).

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if
that person:

(1)  has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

(ii)  has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

(i11) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a
parent of the reporting entity.

(b)  An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the following conditions apply:

(1)  The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same Group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i1)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate
or joint venture of a member of a Group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(tv)  One entity 1s a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity 1s an associate
of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan established for the benefit of
employees of either the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting
entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers
are also related to the reporting entity.

(vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vil) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the reporting entity
or is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a Group of which it is part, provides key
management personnel services to the Company or to the parent of the
Company.

A related party transaction involves transfer of resources, services or obligations
between a reporting entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is
charged.

The Company has a related party relationship with its directors, parent Company,
jointly controlled entities, and post-employment benefit plan, as well as with its
trustees and key management personnel. “Key management personnel” represents
certain senior officers of the Company.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

3.  Material accounting policies (continued)

(d)  Inventories:

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost, materially determined on the weighted
average basis, and net realisable value.

The Group classifies photovoltaic panels, batteries, inverters and other related parts as solar
inventory. Solar inventory 1s valued at lower of weighted average cost and net realisable
value. Any impairment of solar inventory items due to obsolescence or slow-moving stock
is recognised and disclosed as part of inventory management process. Solar inventory is
assessed regularly to ensure that carrying amounts are not greater than their net realisable
value. If mventory is written down, the amount of the write-down 1s recognised in profit or
loss under cost of operating revenue.

(e)  Accounts payable:
Trade and other payables are measured at amortised cost.
() Provisions:

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group or
Company has an obligation as a result of a past event and a reasonable estimate can be
made and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the obligation.

(g)  Property, plant and equipment:
(1)  Owned assets:

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour and
related costs to put the asset into service.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the
carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied
with the part will flow to the Group and its costs can be measured reliably. The costs of
day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is recognised in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(&)

(h)

CAL BATTERY An

Property, plant and equipment (continued):
(ii)  Subsequent expenditure:

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that future economic
benefit associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

(iii) Depreciation:

Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis at annual rates to write down the
property, plant and equipment to their estimated residual values at the end of their
expeceted useful lives.

Leasehold improvements - Over the period of the lease
Plant and machinery and equipment - 10%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment - 10%

Computers - 25%

Motor vehicles - 20%

Right-of-use assets - Over the period of the lease
Buildings - 25%

No depreciation is charged on land.

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each
reporting date.

Leases:
As a lessee;

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the
Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of its relative stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of property the Group has clected
not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease components
as a single lease component.

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from
various external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the
lease and type of the asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencementdate;

—  amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

—  the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease
unless the Group is reasonably certain to terminate carly.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(h)

(1)

CAL BATTERY An

Leases (continued):
As a lessee (continued):

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether
it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised
in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way. a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Short-term leases

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities short-term
leases, including IT equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with
these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Intangible assets:
Brands:

Brands represent expenditure incurred for the exclusive right to assume specific trade
names and logos associated with the business. These intangible assets are determined to
have an indefinite uscful life and are tested annually for impairment.

Computer software:

Costs that are directly associated with acquiring identifiable software products which are
expected to generate economic benefits beyond one year, are recognised as intangible
assets. These assets are measured at cost, less accumulated amortisation and, if any,
impairment losses. The assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their
expected useful lives, estimated between five to seven years. Costs associated with
maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an expense as incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(1)  Intangible assets (continued):
Goodwill:

Goodwill is recorded at cost and represents the excess of the value of consideration paid
over the Group’s interest in net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal
of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The
allocation is made to those cash-generating units that arc expected to benefit from the
business combination in which the goodwill arose, identified according to operating
segment.

) Taxation:

Taxation on profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Taxation is
recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly
to equity, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the income for the year, using tax rates enacted
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted at the
reporting date.

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences except to the
extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable

profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(k)  Revenue recognition:
Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies:

The nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts with
customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue recognition
policies are as follows:

Type of Nature and timing of satisfaction of  Revenue recognition
Service performance obligations, including under [FRS 15.
significant payment terms.

Revenue Revenue is recognised when goods or Revenue is recognised
from the sale of  services are provided to the customers when the goods are
batteries, oils, based on the provided and have been

lubricants, tyres,  terms specified in the contract. Invoices  accepted by the customers.
rencwable energy are generated and the revenue is

solutions and recognised at that point in time. Volume

other accessories  discounts are given to customers.

Invoices are usually payable within 5-30
days.

Discounts are offered to customers
ranging from 3-32.5%.

() Operating profit:

Operating profit is the result generated from continuing principal revenue — producing
activities of the Group as well as other income and expenses related to operating activities.
Operating profit excludes depreciation and amortisation , net finance costs, share of profit
of equity accounted investees and taxation.

(m)  Foreign currencies:

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the rates of exchange ruling at the dates
of those transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at
the reporting date are translated to Jamaica dollars at the rates of exchange ruling on that
date. Gains and losses arising from fluctuations in exchange rates arc recognised in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(m)

(n)

Foreign currencies (continued):
Group companies

The results and financial position of all Group entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(1)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated
at exchange rates ruling at the reporting date.

(i1)  Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange
rates.

Employee benefits:
(1)  Pension assets:

Pensions and other post-employment assets and obligations included in these
financial statements have been actuarially determined by a qualified independent
actuary, appointed by management. The appointed actuary’s report outlines the
scope of the valuation and the actuary’s opinion.

The actuarial valuation was conducted in accordance with IAS 19, and the financial
statements reflect the Group’s post-employment benefit assets and obligations as
computed by the actuary.

(i1)  Defined benefit pension scheme:

The Group is a participating employer in a defined benefit pension scheme, the assets
of which are held separately from those of the Group.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of the defined benefit pension scheme is
calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have carned in
return for their service in the current and prior periods; that value is discounted to
determine the present value, and the fair value of scheme assets is deducted. To the
extent that the obligation is less than the fair value of scheme assets, the asset
recognised is restricted to the discounted value of future benefits available to the
Group.

The discount rate applied is the yield at reporting date on long-term government

instruments that have maturity dates approximating the term of the Group’s
obligation. The calculation is performed using the projected unit credit method.
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3. Material accounting policies (continued)
(n)  Employce benefits (continued):
(11)  Defined benefit pension scheme (continued):
Where the calculation results in a pension surplus to the Group, the recognised asset
is limited to the present value of any future refunds from the scheme or reductions

in the future contributions to the scheme.

Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains
and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset
ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in other
comprehensive income.

(i)  Other employee benefits:
Employee entitlement to leave is recognised when it accrues to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave, as a result of services

rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

(iv) Share-bascd payment arrangements:

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment arrangements
granted to employees is generally recognised as an expense, with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service
and non-market performance conditions are expected to be met, such that amount
ultimately recognised is based on the number of awards that meet the related service
and non-market performance conditions at vesting date. For share based payment
awards with non-vesting conditions, the granted-date fair value of the share-based
payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences
between expected and actual outcomes.

For the Company where the share-based payment is provided for employees of the
subsidiaries, the share- based payment is capitalized to investment in subsidiary.

(o) Dividends and distributions:
Dividends and distributions are recognised in the period in which they are declared.

(p)  Net finance costs:

Net finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the cffective
interest method, interest receivable on funds invested, material bank charges and foreign
exchange gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, taking into account the effective
yield on the asset.
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3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(q) Borrowings:
(1)  Debt issuance costs:
These represent legal, accounting and financing fees associated with securing certain
long-term loans, which are amortised on an effective rate basis over the lives of the
loans.
(i)  Interest-bearing borrowings:
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised imitially at fair value plus transaction
costs directly attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities. Subsequent fo initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
(r)  Impairment;

(i)  Financial assets:

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets, measured at
amortised cost.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and other receivables and contract
asscts at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment
and also includes forward looking information.

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs and considers a financial asset to be
in default when:

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to action, such as realising security, if any is held; or
- the financial asset is more than 360 days past due.

The Group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating
is equivalent to the globally understood definition of “investment grade”.

Life-time ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of the financial instrument. The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.
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3 Material accounting policies (continued)

(r)  Impairment (continued):

(1)

CAL BATTERY Annual

Financial assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.c. the difference between the cash flows
due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at
amortised costs are credit-impaired. A financial asset is “credit-impaired’ when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

At cach reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at
amortised costs are credit-impaired. A financial asset is “credit-impaired’ when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable

data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- abreach of contract such as a default or past due event;

- itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial
difficultics.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial asscts measured at amortised cost are deducted from
the gross carrying amount of the assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in
full) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset in its
entirety or a portion thereof.

This is generally the case when the Group determines that the borrower does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual
asset level.
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3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(r)
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Impairment (continued):

®

(i1)

Financial assets (continued):
Write-off (continued)

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘impairment losses on
financial instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial asscts that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in
order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.,

A provision for impairment is established if there is objective evidence that the
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original contractual
terms. The amount of the provision is the difference between the carrying amount
and the recoverable amount, being the present value of expected cash flows,
including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral. discounted at the
effective interest rate.

Non-financial assets:

The carrying amount of the Group’s non-financial assets (other than deferred tax
assets) is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assct’s rccoverable amount is
estimated. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an
asset or its cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its
fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent
that the assets” carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Report 2025

0
WN




Section 13 | Audited Financial Statements

34

TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(s)
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Financial instruments:

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one
enterprise and a financial hability or equity instrument of another enterprise. For the
purpose of these financial statements, financial assets have been determined to include cash
and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other receivables and related party receivables.
Similarly, financial liabilities include accounts payable, related party payables and loans.

(1)

Financial assets:
Recognition and initial measurement

Accounts receivable are initially recognised when they are originated. All other
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing
component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item
not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issuc. A trade rcceivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

The financial assets that meet both of the following conditions and are not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss: a) are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, and b) its contractual
terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are classified as “Held to collect”
and measured at amortised cost.

Amortised cost represents the net present value (“NPV”) of the consideration
receivable or payable as of the transaction date. This classification of financial assets
comprises the following captions:

= (ash and cash equivalents
= Accounts receivable

= Related party receivables
= Other receivables

Due to their short-term nature, the Group initially recognises these assets at the
original invoiced or transaction amount less expected credit losses.

.S‘Ifh.ﬁ'é’q uent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as
described in their accounting policy notes.
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3. Material accounting policies (continued)
(s) Financial instruments (continued):
(1) Financial assets (continued):
Impairment of financial assets

Impairment losses of financial assets, including receivables, are recognised using the
expected credit loss model for the entire lifetime of such financial assets on initial
recognition, and at each subsequent reporting period, even in the absence of a credit
event or if a loss has not yet been incurred, considering their measurement of past
events and current conditions, as well as reasonable and supportable forecasts
affecting collectability.

Derecognition

A financial asset is primarily derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the asset have expired, or the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in
full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through” arrangement; and
cither (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

(i) Financial liabilitics:

Initial recognition and measurement

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans
and borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs. The Group's financial
liabilities, which include accounts payable, related party payables, short-term and
long-term loans, are recognised initially at fair value.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their recording as
described in their accounting policy notes.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is

discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

3. Material accounting policies (continued)

(s)

(0

)

Financial instruments (continued):

(111) Offsetting of financial instruments:

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in
the statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there 1s mtention to settle on a net basts, to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value disclosures:

Fair value 1s the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Market
price is used to determine fair value where an active market exists as it is the best evidence
of the fair value of a financial instrument. The Group’s financial instruments lack an
available trading market. Further, the Group has no financial instruments that are carried
at fair value. The carrying value of the Group’s financial instruments approximates their
fair value. Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair value is
included in the following notes 26(¢) and 28.

Segment reporting:

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing
products (business segment), or in providing products within a particular economic
environment (geographical segment) which is subject to risks and rewards that are
different from those of the other segments.

Share capital:

(i)  Ordinary shares

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized
as a deduction from equity:.

(11)  Treasury shares

When shares recognised as equity are purchased, the amount of the consideration
paid, which includes directly attributable costs, is recognised as a deduction from

equity.
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4. Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Cash and bank balances 178,679,859 430,128,208 76,032 878 89,864,702
Short-term imvestments 32.773.770 31.546.141 32.773.770 31.546.141
$211.453.629 461,674.349 108,806,648 121,410,843

Short-term investments earn interest at 1.5% to 2% (2024: 1.5% to 2%) per annum, with
maturities of three months or less from date of acquisition.

5 Accounts receivable

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Trade receivables (a) 1,187,494,901 693,718,741 265936151 287,553,790
Others (b) 233.386.475 309,388.597  137.161.002 151,023,517
1,420.881,376 1,003,107.338 403,097,153 438.,577.307

Less: Allowance for
impairment loss

[note 26(a)] (_15.634.320)

28,268.880)

(_14.519.648)

(_27.170.390)

1,405,247.056
Less: Other receivables
non-current [5(b)(i)]  (__20.622.993)

974,838,458

388,577,505

(_20.,622.993)

411,406,917

$1.384.624.063

974,838.458

367954512

411406917

(a) Trade receivables
as detailed below:
Balances at the
beginning of the
year
Arising on
acquisition of
subsidiary -
Increase/(decrease)
due to credit sales/
(cash received)

693,718,741

493.776.160

291,990,394

331,116,829

70.611.518

287,553,790

(_21.617.639)

272,467,706

15,086,084

Balances at the end

of the year $1,187,494,901

693,718,741

265,936,151

287,553,790

Trade receivables include $7.452,168 (2024: §11,619,687) for Group and $1,351,382 (2024:
§11,619,687) for Company due from a related party.

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment loss related to trade
accounts receivables are disclosed in note 26(a).
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

6. Related party balances and transactions (continued)

(b)  The statement of financial position includes the following balances arising in the ordinary
course of business with related parties (continued):

(1) Due from related parties (current):

(a) These balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. No
expense has been recognised in the current year or prior year for bad or
doubtful debts in respect of amounts owed by related parties.

(b) See note 17(g) for terms of loan.

(11) Due from parent company (current):
Group and Company
2025 2024
Dai Diverze (Jamaica) Limited $49.428,122 56,112,124

This balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. No expense
has been recognised in the current year or prior year for bad or doubtful debts in
respect of this amount.

(iii)  Due from subsidiaries (current):

Company
2025 2024
Restated™®
Tropical Mobility Limited 5,759,186 3,560,714
Tropical Renewable Energy Limited 143,702,690 25,855,900
KAYA Energy Group SRL 8,531,373 8,531,374
Tropical Battery (USA) LLC 643.896.771 434 464,623

§801.890,020 472,412,611

These balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
(1v) Loan to subsidiary (non-current):

No expense has been recognised in the current year for bad or doubtful debts in
respect of amounts owed by this subsidiary.

Company
2025 2024
Tropical Battery (USA) LLC 3.396.039.311 3,151,242215
Less: Current portion (1,233.912.584) (1.213.143.657)
Long-term portion $2,162.126,727  1,938,098.558

See note 17(f) and 17(i) for terms of loan.

* Restated, see note 30
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025
6.  Related party balances and transactions (continued)
(b)  The statement of financial position includes the following balances arising in the
ordinary course of business with related parties (continued):
(v) Due to fellow subsidiary (non-current):
Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Diverze Properties
Limited $517.516,278 500,000,000 500,000,000 500,000,000

This balance comprises:

(i) Anunsecured loan of JIMD $500,000,000 to the Company, bearing interest
at 11% per annum and not repayable before September 2027. The interest
was waived for the financial year ended September 30, 2025.

(i)  An unsecured loan of USD $110,000 to Tropical Battery (USA) LLC,
bearing interest at 11% per annum and not repayable before September

2028.
(vi) Due to related parties (current):
Group
2025 2024
Enrvate Limited 16,388,913 -
Diverze Properties Limited 226,279 -
§16,615,192 -

The balances are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

(vii) Interest in joint venture
Group and Company
2025 2024

Enrvate Limited (1) $5.000,000 5,000,000

(1)  In2021, the Group entered a strategic partnership to provide energy saving
solutions to the automobile industry. To carry out this mandate, Enrvate
Limited (‘Enrvate’) was formed as part of an arrangement in which the
Company has joint control and a 50% ownership interest. Enrvate is
structured as a separate entity and the Company has residual interest in its
net assets. Accordingly, the Company has classified 1ts interest in Enrvate
as a joint venture. In accordance with the agreement under which Enrvate
is established, the Company and the other investor have agreed to seek
additional contributions from selected partners between 524 million to $36
million to fund the operations over the next financial year, following which,
additional funding will be sought where required. There was no material
trading during the financial year.

e 99
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

6. Related party balances and transactions (continued)

(¢)  The statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income includes the following
balances arising in the ordinary course of business with related parties:

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024

$ 5 $ $

Sale of goods and services
to other related parties:
Chukka Caribbean
Adventure Limited
(Jamaica) 3.473,012 3.617,503 3473012 3,617,503

Sale of goods and services
to subsidiaries:
Kaya Energy Group SRL - - - 58,581,730
Tropical Renewable Energy
Limited - - 8,321,054 -
Tropical Mobility
Limited - - 192,129 -

Purchase of goods and
services from subsidiary:
Tropical Mobility
Limited - - - 28,492 862

Transactions with fellow
subsidiary - Diverze
Properties Limited
(note 10,11):
Interest on lease
liabilities 4 520,013 12,623,857 4.520.,013 12,623,857
Lease payments 9,879,986 25,048,500 9.879.986 25,048,500
Professional fees
earned - ( 7.236,867) - ( 7.236.867)
[nterest income earned  (28,101,121) (63,941.534) ( 28.101.121) ( 63.941.534)
[note 6 (b)(1)]
Transaction with subsidiaries:
Interest income $ - . . g (496.633.540) (395.941.421)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025
6. Related party balances and transactions (continued)
(d) Key management personnel compensation:
Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
$ S b $
Restated* Restated*
Directors’ emoluments
as management 67,339,928 38,574,637 29,038,035 17,944 817
Director’s fees 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000
Compensation for key
management:
Share based payments 26,766,856 49 635,156 30,435,156

39,630,853

Short-term benefits 123,122,112 88,487,183 27.837,983
7. Inventorics
Group Company
025 2024 2025 2024
Finished goods:
Tyres 445,929 445 929 445,929 445929
Batteries 572,669 237 515459228  538.669.821 479 835,678
Oils 53,848,541 93,400,221 53,848,541 93,400,221
Accessories 107,046,963 129.415.921 101,046,470 129415921
Solar 89,047,803 91,548,026 52,756,500 59,057,355
Raw material 473,224.730 497.615,991 - -
Work-in-progress 8,648,659 35,328,671 - -
Inventories-in-transit 238.916.385 273.108.518 237.538.172 270.283.986
1,543,848.247 1,636,322.505 984305433  1,032,439,090
Written down to net
realisable value ( 6.412.314) ( 6.355,793) (_ 2.519.082) ( 2.519.082)
51.537,435,933 1.629,966,712 981,786,351  1,029,920,008

Inventories written-off during the year amounted to $10,061,655 (2024: $13.767.751) for the
Group and Company and were recognised as expense during the year. Inventories of
$3,744,788,870 (2024: $3,467,739,530) for the Group and $2,078,155,392 (2024:
$2,090,064,605) for the Company were recognised as an expense during the year and included
in “cost of sales™.

*Restated, see note 30
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30. 2025
8. Accounts payable
Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Restated* Restated*
Trade payables 1,043,390,259 774,934,031 755,333,317 633,592,824
Dividends payable - 2,333,070 - 2,333,070
Contingent payment
payable - Rose Batteries
acquisition [note 28 (a)(i)] 91,235,305 333,154,966 - -
Accruals 247.229.700 141,184,575 172,719,131 44,057,291
Other payables 130,649.316 179,592,828 29,306,538 112.129.456
$1,512.504.580  1,431.199.470 957,358,986 792,112,641
0. Intangible assets and goodwill
The Group
Brands Software Goodwill Total
Cost or valuation:
September 30, 2023 38,133,005 - 61,120,229 99,253,234
Arising on acquisition of
subsidiary : 77.439,256 2,831,162,172 2,908,601 428
Movement in Kaya goodwill
during the year - - 8,682,774 8,682,774
Foreign currency adjustment - 977,987 ( 2,209.188) ( 1,231.201)
Additions & 5.209.522 - 5.209.522
September 30, 2024 38,133,005 83,626,765 2,898,755,987 3,020,515,757
Foreign currency adjustment - 1,232,123 66,373,209 67.605.332
September 30, 2025 38,133,005 84 858,888 2.965,129.196 3.088.121.089
Amortization:
Arising on acquisition of
subsidiary [see note 28(a)
(111)] - 25,375,498 - 25,375,498
Charge for the year - 2,053,847 - 2,053,847
Foreign currency adjustment - 498,657 - 498.657
September 30, 2024 - 27,928,002 - 27,928,002
Charge for the year - 14,322,791 - 14,322,791
Transfer from property, plant
& equipment (note 10) - 15,498,006 - 15,498,006
Foreign currency adjustment - 853.505 - 853,505
September 30, 2025 - 58,602,304 - 58.602,304
*Restated, see note 30
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025
9.  Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
The Group
Brands Software Goodwill Total
Net book values:
September 30, 2025 $38.133.005 26,256,584 2.965.129.196 3.029,518,785
September 30, 2024 $3K,133.005 55,698,763 2,898 755987 2,992 587755
This is represented on the statement of financial position as follows:
Group
2025 2024
Intangible assets 64,389,589 93,831,768
Goodwill 2.965,129.196 2.898,755.987

$3.029.518.785  2,992,587,755

Company
0235 2024

5]

Intangible asscts
Brands (a) S__ 38,133,005 38,133,005

(a)

(b)

(c)

These brands represent the acquisition of certain assets as part of the Caribrake and
Autopower Brands. These asscts are carried at cost as intangible assets with indefinite life.
There is no foreseeable limit on the period during which the Group expects to consume the
future economic benefits embodied in the asset.

The entity projects that the use of these brands will be made indefinitely, whilst the brands
would be tested for impairment in line with TAS 36. As at the reporting period no
impairment was identified.

The software represents computer software programs.

Goodwill of $2.831,162,172 [note 28(a)(iii)] is attributable to the acquisition of Rose
Electronics Distributing Company LLC and $67,593,815 to the acquisition of Kaya Energy
Group, SRL.

In testing goodwill and intangible assets for impairment, recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units were estimated based on value in use. Where the recoverable amounts
exceed the carrying amount, no impairment allowance is made. The recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (CGU) was arrived at by estimating its future cash flows and
discounting those cash flows using long-term discount rates applicable to the respective

jurisdiction. Future sustainable cash flows were estimated based on the most recent

forecasts, based on past experience and management’s plans.

In all cases, projected cash flows are taken over 5 vears and a long-term growth rate is
applied to determine a terminal value which is then discounted to present value using an
appropriate discount rate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025
9.  Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
(¢) (Continued)
Key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow projections were as follows:
2025 2024

Kaya Energy Group, SRL (CGUs)

Discount rate 12.71% 12.71%

Growth rate 5.00% 5.00%

The discount rate was a post-tax measure estimated based on the weighted average cost of capital,
a possible debt leveraging of 60 percent at a market interest rate of 8.1 percent.

The recoverable amount of the CGU was estimated to be higher than its carrying amount and no
impairment was required.

2025 2024
Rose Batteries (CGUs)
Discount rate 14.31% 14.31%
Growth rate 5.00% _5.00%

The discount rate was a post-tax measure estimated based on the weighted average cost of capital,
a possible debt leveraging of 45 percent at a market interest rate of 8.1 percent

The recoverable amount of the CGU was estimated to be higher than its carrying amount and no
impairment was required.

10.  Property. plant and equipment

The Group
Land Plant Furniture,
Leasehold and and fixtures and Maotor
Computers miprovements  building machinery  equipment vehicles Total
Cost;

September 30, 2023 B0.841,498 78,703,152 - 8.343.610 [1B3,768,22 106,339,729 459996,217
Acquired through

business combination 11,967,185 798,155 - 45,133,499 45429221 - 103,328 060
Additions 7,697,549 3,823,496 950,000,000 701,770 38,259,430 62,165,024 1,062.647.269
Disposal - - - - ( 41,645,206) ( 9,733.543) (51,378,749
Foreign currency

adjustment 62.301 5312 - 305.019 745.629) ( 553.404) ( 926.401)
September 30, 2024 100,568,533 83,330,115 950,000,000 54483898 227,066,044 158.217.806 1,573.666.396
Additions 16,310,320 80,533,098 - 2,732,873 40,830,337 2,209,380 142,616,014
Disposal - { 811,148) - { 3R,612) ( 412,070 ( 10542489y ( 11.804.319)
Foreign currency

adjustment 185,088 ( 1.351.516) - 616,300 644,915 | 167.437) ( 72,670)

September 30, 2025 117.063.94]1 161,700,549 950.000.000 57.794.459 268,129.226 149717246 1.704.405.421

104




Section 13 | Audited Financial Statements

46
TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED
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10.  Property. plant and equipment (continued)
The Group (Continued)
Land Plant Furniture,
Leasehold and and fixtures and Mator
Computers mprovements  building machinery  equipment vehicles Total
Depreciation:
September 30, 2023 62,406,372 19,544,390 - 8,343,610 112,354.992 77,102,293 279,751,657
Acquired through
business combination 8,205,075 558.085 - 33,940,902 31907227 - 74.611.289
Charge for the year 11.802.818 1,789.759 - 3887384 15,094,588 12,164,837 44,739 386
Eliminated on disposal - - - - ( 29941 883) { 9,733,543) ( 39675426)
Foreign currency
adjustment 70,032 3714 - 251735 (_ 354.133) ( 9940y ( 38.592)
September 30, 2024 82.484.297  21.895.948 - 46,423,631 129,060,791 79,523,647 359,388,314
Charge for the year 8.848.550 3,538,394 13,000,000 6.797.329  18.230.439 19,765.479 70.180.191
Transfer to
imtangible assets
(note 9) - . . (15,498 .006) - . ( 15498,006)
Eliminated on disposal - ( 506.968) - ( 3R656)(  412.070) ( 10,542489) ( 11.500,183)
Foreign currency
adjustment 146,413 (_ 1,003.871) - 149.744 (__ 630.268) ( 104,177y ( 1.442,159)
September 30, 2025 91.479.260 _23.923.503 _13.000.000 37.834.042 146.248.892 88.642.460 401.128.157
Net book values:
September 30, 2025 5 25584681 137.777.046 937.000.000 19960417 121.880.334 61.074.786  1.303.277.264

September 30, 2024 § 18.084.236 61434167 950.000.000 8.060.267 98.005253 78694159 1.214.278.082
The Company
Land Furniture,
Leasehold and Plantand  fixtures and Motor
Computers  mmprovements building machinery  equipment vehicles Total

Cost:

September 30, 2023 80,264,330  T8.703.152 - 8.343.610 183898111 91,374.525 442,583,728

Additions 7,044,666 3,823,496 950,000,000 - 37,300,230 59,943 835 1,058,112,227

Disposal - - - - - (__9.733.543) | 9.733.543)

September 30, 2024 87,308,996 82,526,648 950,000.000 8343610 221,198341 141,584,817  1,490,962,412

Additions 12,867,033 22,402,894 - - 36,963,073 293,300 72,530,300

Disposal - - - - - (_10,542.489) (10,542 489)

September 30, 2025 100,176,029 104,929,542 950000000 _R343.610 258163414 131.337.628  1.552,950.223
Depreciation:

September 30, 2023 62,066,150 19,544,390 - 8343610 110,916,554 68,570,969 269,441,673

Charge for the year 10,287,294 1,789.759 - - 13,070,640 10,505,740 35,653,433

Eliminated on disposal - - - - - (_9.733.543) (__ 9.733.543)

September 30, 2024 72,353,444 21,334,149 - 8,343,610 123987,194 69,343,166 295,361,563

Charge for the year 7407773 2,118,619 13,000,000 ” 17,212,604 18,322.104 38,761,100

Eliminated on disposal - - - - - (_10.542.489) (__ 10.542.489)

September 30, 2025 79.761.217 23452768 _13.000.000 _8.343.610 141899798  77.122.781 _343.580.174
Net book values:

September 30, 2025 20414812 _B1.476.774 937,000,000 - 116,263,616 54214847  1,209,370,049

September 30,2024 5_14.955.552 _61.192.499 950.000.000 - 97211147  72241.651  1.195.600.849
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

10.

Property. plant and equipment (continued)

During the year additions to property, plant and equipment include cash fransactions of
$142,616,014 (2024: $112,647,269) for the Group and $72,530,300 (2024: $108,112,227) for the
Company and non-cash transactions of $Nil (2024: $950,000,000) for the Group and the
Company.

Property, plant and equipment are held as security for a private placement of a $300 million bond
[see notes 17(b)]. The Company shall not either in a single transaction or in a series of
transactions, whether related or not and whether voluntarily or involuntarily, sell, transfer or grant
a lease or otherwise dispose of all or any part of its assets exceeding 10% of tangible net worth
in any transaction or series of transactions.

In the prior year, the Company purchased land and building of $950,000,000, from Diverze
Properties Limited. a fellow subsidiary. The Company had leased the land and building in
previous years. The acquisition is expected to generate significant cost savings for the Group and
will provide the necessary resources to expand its operations and pursue growth initiatives.
Included in Land and building 1s land with a carrying value of $430,000,000.

Leases

The Company and the Group lease property and equipment. The leases typically run for | to 10
years. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases
that are short-term. Certain leased properties are held with Diverze Properties Limited, a fellow
subsidiary. See note 10 above and note 6(c) for transactions with Diverze Properties Limited
relating to leases.

(a) Right-of-use assets:

Group Company
Leasehold land and buildings Leasehold land and buildings
2025 2024 2025 2024

Balance at October | 74,081,728 164,703,065 30,358,699 164,703,065
On acquisition of subsidiary

[note 28(a)(iii)] - 77,552,444 - -
Additions 342,756,083 - - -
Lease modification - 773,579 - -
Derecognition of lease - (105,342,253) - (105,342,255)
Foreign currency

adjustment ( 46,379) - - -

Depreciation charge for
the year [note 11(c)] (_73.021.834) (_63.605.105) (_6313.813) (_29.002.111)

Balance at September 30 $343,769,598 74,081,728 24,044,886 30,358,699
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1. Leases (continued)
(b) Lease labilities:
Maturity analysis — contractual undiscounted cash flows:
Group Company
2025 2024 2025 024
Up to one year 82,750,096 54,864,462 7,486,969 8218412
One to five years 350,661,996 25,259,344 26,304,425 25,259,344
More than five years - 8777177 - 8777177
433412,092 88900983 33,791,394 42.254 933
Less: future interest (_78.804.351) (__8.838.193) (_6.364.370) (_8.838.193)
Total discounted lease
liabilities at year end 354,607,741 80,062,790 27,427,024 33,416,740
Less: current portion (_55,520.133) (_ 51.372.228) (_5.093.084) (_4.726.178)
Non-current $299.087.608 28.690,562 22,333,940 28,690,562
(c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss:
Group Company
2025 2024 2025 202
S b h) $
Interest on lease liabilities
(note 20) 11,385,588 13,396,665 2,258,234 12,667,257
Depreciation on right-of-
use assets [note 11(a)] 73,021,834 63,605,105 6,313,813 29,002,111
Short-term lease rentals 3,111,145 - - -
(d) Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows:
Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Total cash outflows
for lease
Interest payments 11,385,588 13,396,665 2,258,234 12,667,257
Principal payments 59.632 243 78267 185 5.987.943 25482174
$_71.017.831 91,663,850 8.246.177 38,149431
12.  Employee benefits
(a) Employee benefits (obligation)/assets:
Group and Company
2025 2024
Present value of funded obligations[12(c)] (309,196,000)  (248,901,000)
Fair value of plan assets[ 12(d)] 242.441.000 282,112,000
Recognised pension(obligation)/asset| 12(b)] S(_66,755,000) 33,211,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

12.

Employee benefits {continued)

(a)

Employee benefits assets (continued):

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme covering all permanent employees
of Tropical Battery Company Limited. The Trustees of the pension scheme are required
by law and the Trustdeed to act in the interest of the scheme and all relevant stakeholders.
The Trustees of the scheme are responsible for the investment policy with regard to the
assets of the scheme. The scheme is funded at 10% of pensionable salaries, being 5% by
members and 5% by the sponsoring entity within the Group. Members may contribute
up to an additional 5%.

The Group expects to pay $7,070,000 (2024: $7,226,000) in contributions to its defined
benefits scheme 1n 2026,

Risks associated with defined benefit pension scheme:

Through its defined benefit pension scheme, the Group is exposed to a number of risks,
the most significant of which are detailed below:
Asset volarility

The scheme liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to
Government of Jamaica bond yields; if plan assets underperform this yield, this will
create a deficit.

As the scheme matures, the Group intends to reduce the level of investment risk by
investing more in asscts that better match the liabilities. The Government bonds represent
investments in Government of Jamaica securities.

The Group believes that due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities, a level of
continuing equity investment is an appropriate element of the Group’s long-term strategy
to manage the scheme efficiently.

Changes in bond yields

A decrease in Government of Jamaica bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although
this will be partially offset by an increase in the value of the plan’s bond holdings.

Inflation risk

Higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities. The majority of the scheme’s assets are
either unaffected by fixed interest bonds; meaning that an increase in inflation will reduce
the surplus or create a deficit.

Movement in the amounts recognised in the statement of financial position:

Group and Company

2025 2024
Balance at beginning of year 33,211,000 13,866,000
Net expense in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income (106,922 ,000) 12,494,000
Contribution paid 6.956.000 6.851.000
Balance at end of year[12(a)] $(_066,755,000) 33,211,000
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12.  Employee benefits (continued)
(c) Movements in funded obligations:
2025 2024
Balance at beginning of year (248,901,000) (231,249,000)
Benefits paid 14,819,000 8,492,000
Interest cost ( 27,379.000) ( 26,594.000)
Current service cost ( 18,848,000 ( 18.208.000)
Re-measurement gained due to experience ( 19,256,000 12,092,000
Re-measurement gained due to financial
assumptions (_9.631.000) 6,566,000
Balance at end of year [12(a)] $(309,196,000) (248.901.000)
(d) Movement in plan assets:
2025 024
Fair value of plan assets at
beginning of year 282,112,000 245,115,000
Contributions paid 19,159,000 19,551,000
Expected return on plan assets 30,996,000 28,719,000
Benefits paid ( 19,821,000) ( 10,321,000)
Re-measurement of actuarial gains (_70,005,000) ( 952.000)
Fair value of plan assets at
end of year [12(a)] $242.,441,000 282,112,000
Plan assets consist of the following:
Fixed-income securities and other investments 206,752,000 252,625,000
Net current assets 35,689,000 29,487,000
$242.441,000 282,112,000
The distribution of the fair value of the plan assets attributable to the defined benefit
scheme, was as follows:
Group and Company
2025 2024
$ Yo S %
Equity securities 162,031,000 78 205,782,000 81
Government of Jamaica
securities 15,565,000 8 22,347,000 9
Corporate bonds 29.156.000 14 24.496.000 10
206,752,000 100 252,625,000 100
(e) Expense recognised in profit or loss, net:
2025 202
Interest on obligations and current service cost $(_8,030,000) (5.212,000)
Total expense is recognised in administration, marketing and selling expenses in profit
or loss.
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12.  Employee benefits (continued)
(H [tems in other comprehensive income:
Group and Company
2025 2024
Re-measurement gains on obligations (28,887.,000) 18,658,000
Re-measurement gains on plan assets (70.005.000) (__952.000)
$(98,892,000) 17,706,000
(g) Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages):
2025 2024
Discount rate 9.5% 11.0%
Long-term rate of inflation 4.0% 6.0%
Future salary increases 6.0% 8.0%

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on PA (90) Tables for Pensioners
(British Mortality Tables). The expected long-term rate is based on assumed long-term
rate of inflation.

(h) Sensitivity analysis of key economic assumptions:

The calculation of the projected benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions used.
The table below summarises how the projected benefit obligation measured at the end of
the reporting period would have increased/(decreased) as a result of a change in the
respective assumptions by one percentage point. In preparing the analyses for each
assumption, all others were held constant. The economic assumptions are somewhat
linked as they are all related to inflation.

Group and Company

2025
1% 1% 2% 2%
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
$7000 $7000 $7000 $7000
Discount rate 276,410 346,864 249229 388954
Future salary increases 325,652 294,551 344,160 281,511

Group and Company

2024
[% 1% 2% 2%
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
$7000 $7000 $7000 $7000
Discount rate 25,939 ( 32,162) 47,155 (71.460)
Future salary increases (_14.501) (_12.862) (_30,863) (24.278)
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14,

Deferred taxation (continued)

(b)

Group and Company

Movement in temporary differences during the year are as follows (continued):

October 1,
2023

Recognised
in equity

Recognised
in income

September 30,

2024

|note 21(a)]

Property, plant and equipment ( 4,164,027) - ( 5,352,693) ( 9,516,720)
Right-of-use assets (41,175,766) - 33,586,091 ( 7.589,675)
Employee benefits ( 3.466,500)  ( 4426,500) ( 409,750) ( 8.302,750)
Lease liabilities 45118412 - (36.764,226) 8.354.186
S(_3.687.881) ((4.426,500)  (_8.940,578) (17.054,959)
15. Share capital
Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Restated*® Restated*
Authorised:
No maximum ordinary shares
Issued and fully paid:
Balance at the start of the year 254013268 164,287,800 254,013,268 164,287 800
Issued for cash (i) 696,599,871 - 696,599 871 -
Transaction fees ( 53.142.,950) - ( 53.142.,950) -
Exercise of shares (ii) 26,766,856 89,725,468 26,766,856 89,725 468

Treasury shares (__16,777.2606)

$ 907,459,779

254,013,268

924,237,045

254,013,268

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Units Units Units Units
Restated* Restated™®

Issued and fully paid ordinary
shares of no par value:

Balance at the start of the year 1,369.377,273

1,303,750,000

1,369,377.273

1,303,750,000

Issued for cash (i) 372,513,300 - 372,513,300 -
Exercise of shares(ii) - 30,400,000 - 30,400,000
Shares subject to recall (ii) - 35,227,273 - 35227273
Treasury shares (iil) ( 8.971.800) - - -

1,732 918,773

1369377273

1.741.890,573

1369377273

*Restated, see note 30
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15. Share capital (continued)

54

Holders of these shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and entitled to one
vote per share at general meetings of the Company.

(i)  On July 4, 2025 Tropical Battery issued shares of 372,513,300 units valued at
$696,599,871 in an Additional Public Offering.

(11)  In the prior year a total of 30,400,000 shares were issued to key management personnel of

the company and subsidiary, financial institution and legal advisor. A further 35,227,273
shares were issued to key management personnel of a subsidiary. These shares were
subject to certain vesting conditions over a five year period and during the current year
7,045,455 shares became wvested. See note 23. The shares granted by Company to
emplovees of its subsidiary were treated as interest in subsidiary, see note [3(n)(1v)] and
13. The subsidiary accounted for these costs in its profit and loss account.

(ii1)  As at September 30, 2025 a subsidiary within the Group held ordinary stock units of the
Company totaling 8,971,800. These shares are reported by the Group as Treasury shares.

16. Capital contribution

This represents capital injection by the ultimate parent company.

17. Loans and borrowings

(i) Long-term loans

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Restated* Restated®
(a) Related party loan 5,685,102 7,758,150 5,685,102 7,758,150
(¢) Bank loan 60,000,000 100,000,000 60,000,000 100,000,000
(d) Stewart Finance Ja. Ltd 17,306,858 19,494 274 17,306,858 19,494 274
(e) Bond - April 2026 248 000,000 242 405,546 248,000,000 242 405,546

(f) Convertible cumulative
redeemable preferred
equity
(g) CIBC Loan
(h) Other long-term-

2.245.560,966
292,500,000

2,043,087,848
345,151,786

2,245 560,966
292 500,000

2,043,087 848
345,151,786

loans 23.060_389 29 358321 - -
2,892, 113,315 2,787,255,925 2,869,052,926 2,757,897,604
Less: Current portion 362.068.460 98,281,573 356.494.380 98.281.573
Non-current $2,530,044,855  2,688,974352  2,512,558,546 2,659,616,031

*Restated, see note 30
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17. Loans and borrowings (continued)

(i) Short-term loans

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024

(b) Bonds — April 2025 300,000,000 300,000,000 300,000,000 300,000,000
(i) CIBC US$9.5mloan 885,868,576 1448164562 885868576 1,448.164,562
(i) Line-of-credit 240387.141 _ 238.052.400 : e

$1426255717 1986216962 1,185.868,576 1,748.164,562

Total loans and
borrowings $4.318.369,032 4,773.472.887 4,054,921.502 4.506.062,166

(a) The Company has an unsecured loan from the ultimate parent company. The loan attracts
interest of 1 1% per annum and matures in October 2027,

(b) In April 2019, the Company authorised the private placement of secured J$ notes for an
aggregate principal amount of $300 million. These notes attracted interest at the rate of
7.5% per annum up to April 10, 2024. Effective April 11, 2024, certain terms within the
Trust Deed were amended. The amendments primarily impacted the interest rate which was
amended to 11.75% per annum and the maturity date of the bond which was amended to
April 1, 2025. Hence, the bond was reclassified from long-term loans to short term
borrowings in the prior financial year. As at September 30, 2025, the bond remained
outstanding and is classified as a short-term borrowing. Subsequent to the reporting date
and as at the date of signing of the financial statements, management is in active negotiations
with the bondholders to extend the maturity date of the bond.

(c) This represents a loan facility obtained in June 2022 from First Caribbean International
Bank Limited in the amount of $200 million. The loan is secured by a promissory note,
attracts interest of 6.75% per annum and matures in October 2027.

(d) This represents a motor vehicle loan facility from Stewart Finance Jamaica Ltd. in the
amount of $23.7 million. The loan is secured by the motor vehicle and attracts interest at
the rate of 13% per annum and is set to mature in November 2030.

(e) In February 2023, the Company authorised the private placement of secured J$ notes for an

aggregate principal amount of $250 million. These notes attract interest at the rate of 11%
per annum and they mature in April 2026.

TROPICAL BATTERY Annual Report 2025 ]]3



Section 13 | Audited Financial Statements

56

TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

17.

Loans and borrowings (continued)

(f)

(h)

On January 29, 2024 the Company issued USS13m convertible cumulative redeemable
preferred equity to Sygnus Credit Investments Limited. This was used to facilitate off-
lending to Tropical Battery USA LLC in the acquisition of Rose Electronics Distributing
Company LLC. See notes [6(b)(iv) and 28(a)]. Interest is payable quarterly, at a rate of 10%
per annum and the loan matures in January 2027. Dividend is capitalized quarterly at a rate
of 5% and payable upon maturity.

The terms of the equity conversion events are stated below:
As long as the Preferred Equity is outstanding:

(1) The Purchasers will have the right to convert all or part of the Preferred Equity into
Ordinary Shares including accrued dividends at valuation at a Liquidity/Conversion
Event.

Conversion Event may take place at:

a.  Maturity

b.  Initial Public Offcring

c. Ata liquidity event involving the sale of shares in the Issuer or the Targets.

d. Change of Control or Ownership in the Issuer

(2)  The conversion of such shares will be capped such that the Purchaser will not own
more than 30% of the Target at Conversion.

or

(3)  Conversion of all or part of the Preferred shares into ordinary shares in the capital of
the Company at a price equivalent to a 10% discount in the Qualified Public Offering.
In the event of an Additional Public Offering, the holders of the preference shares
will convert their shares to ordinary shares of the Company, immediately prior to the
offer and their shares will be sold as part of the offer.

The CIBC loan facility commenced in October 2023 for a tenure of 7 years. The loan was
granted to facilitate off-lending to a related party [6 (b)(1)]. Interest is payable quarterly at
a fixed rate of 8.5% per annum for 2 years. Thereafter, interest is charged at 3 month
Weighted Average Treasury Bill Yield (WATBY) plus 2% with the interest rate reset based
on the most recent 3-month Treasury Bill rate immediately prior to the date of resct. The
facility will have a WATBY floor of 3% which itself is subject to review. The same terms
are applied to the amount due from fellow subsidiary as described in note [6 (b)(1)(b)].

These arc unsccured loans totaling $8.75 million from Banco BHD at 8% interest maturing
in November 2025, $3.4 million from Changan Vehicle Credit Engine at 15.95% interest
maturing in April 2029 and loan from directors of $9.5 million at 11% interest maturing in
April 2027,
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17.  Loans and borrowings (continued)

(i)  This represents a Senior Secured Bridge loan from First Caribbean International Bank
(Jamaica) Limited of US$9.5 million. The Bridge loan was issued in June 2024, replaced
the USSY million loan from Sygnus Credit Investments Ltd. and is secured by second
debenture over present and future property, assets and corporate guarantees. Interest is
charged at a rate of 8.5% per annum. The maturity date on the loan was extended from
May 2025 to June 24, 2026. The loan was used to facilitate off-lending to Tropical Battery
USA LLC in the acquisition of Rose Electronics Distributing Company LLC. See notes
[6(b)(iv) and 28(a)]. An amount of USD $4,000,624 was paid down during the financial
year.

(1)  Two subsidiaries within the Group have an approved short-term revolving credit line of up
to USS$1,500,000 and RDS5,000,000. Both loans were fully drawn down as at September
30, 2025. The facilities attracted an annual interest rate of 8.58%. and 16.95%,
respectively.

(k)  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

The table below details changes in the Company’s and the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Company’s and Group’s statements of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

The Group

Loans Leases
2024 2025 2024
Restated*

202

n

Balance at October | 4,773,472 887 756,682,254 80,062,790 180,473,648

Proceeds from loans 87,062,117 4,182,484.670 - -
Repayment of loans ( 820,135,080) ( 96,502.888) - -
Debt issuance cost

amortised 44 128 066 - - -
Debt issuance costs - ( 86,384,129) - -
Capitalisation of interest 108,041,835 17,192,980 - -
Foreign currency

adjustment 125,799 207 - - -
Repayment of lease

liabilities - - (59.632.243) (_78.267.185)

(_455.103.855) 4.016.790.633 (_59.632.243) (_78.267.185)

*Restated, see note 30
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17.  Loans and borrowings (continued)
(k)  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (continued):
The Group (continued)
Loans Leases
2025 2024 2025 2024
Restated*®

Balance b/f (_455.103.855) 4.016,790.633

(0159.632.243) (_78.267.185)

Lease modification - -
Additions to lcases
Interest expense
Interest paid

( 8578,880) ( 22,143,673)
342,756,083 5

Balance at September 30

- > 11,385,588 13,396,665
- - (_11.385.588) (_13.396.665)
. . 334.177.194  (22.143,673)
$4.318.369.032 4,773,472.887 354,607,741 80,062,790

for loans

The Company

Loans Leases
2025 2024 2025 2024
Restated*

Balance at October 1 4.506.062.166 718.321.953 33.416.740 180.473.648
Proceeds from loans - 3,942,734,250 - -
Repayment of loans ( 738.075221) ( 85.802.888) - -
Debt issuance cost

amortised 44,128,066 = - -
Debit issuance costs incurred ( 86,384.129) - -
Foreign currency adjustment 134,764,656 - -
Capitalisation of interest 108,041,835 17,192,980 - -
Repayment of lease

liabilities - - (_5,987943) (_25482.174)

(_451.140.664) 3.787.740.213

(_5.987.943) (_25.482.174)

Lease modification - -
Interest expense " -
Interest paid - -

Balance at September 30

( 1,773)  (121,574.734)

2,258,234 12,667,257

((2.258.234)  (_12.667.257)

- - ( 1.773)  (121.574.734)
$4,054921,502  4,506,062,166 27,427,024 33.416.740

for long-term loans

*Restated, see note 30
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18.  Gross operating revenue

Gross operating revenue represents the invoiced value of sales after deduction of discounts and
is measured net of consumption taxes. Revenue is recognised when goods are provided to the
customers based on the terms specified in the contract. Invoices are generated and the revenue is
recognised at that point in time.

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Net Battery Sales 5680963255 4824372974 2716373409  2,548921,033
Net Tyre Sales 1,744,786 5,649,392 1,744,786 5,649.392

Renewable Energy Solutions 382,396,728 354,208,765 B -
Total O1l and Accessories 445,043,149 477.676.326 442,568,231 449 183.464

Net Sales before discounts  6,519,147.918  5,661,907457 3,160,686,426  3,003,753,889
Discounts on All Products ( 76.469.000) ( 39.605986) (  35.910942) ( 28.957.316)

Net Sales $6,442,678,918 5,622,301,471 3,124,775484  2.974,796,573

19. Expenses by nature

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
(a)  Cost of operating revenuc:

Tyres 1,620,384 7,101,788 1,620,384 7,101,788
Batteries 3.350,545891 2967,119.887 1,654987.648 1,571,997.931
Spent batteries 30,573,968 28,932,616 30,573,968 28.932.616
Oils 145,549 683 225,009,324 145,549,683 225,009,324
Accessories 251,487,591 273,515,808 249 873,847 257,022,946
Renewable energy 297,086,765 242 705,251 - -
Inventory

obsolescence 10.061.655 13,767,751 10.061.655 13.767.751

$4,086,925.937 3,758,152.425 2,092,667.185 2.103,832.356
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19. Expenses by nature (continued)

(b)
selling expenses:
Salaries, wages and

related costs
Equity settled share-

based payments

[note 15(i1)]

Staff and canteen expenses

Other administration,
marketing and selling
expenses:
Accommodation
Advertising
Audit fees:
- current year

- prior years under accrual

- taxation services
- out of pocket expenses

Computer services
Director’s remuneration
Electricity
Gas and oil
Insurance
Impairment (credit)/loss

on trade receivables

[note 26(a)]

Miscellaneous expenses
Motor vehicle expenses
Postage and telephone
Printing and stationery
Professional fees
Acquisition related costs

[note 28(a)(ii)]
Rent, rates and taxes
Repairs and maintenance
Safety supplies
Sales promotion
Security
Subscription and donations
Travel and entertainment

*Restated, see note 30
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Company

2024
Restated™

2025

Administration, marketing and

1,143,732,310 797,768,501

2025 2024

Restated™®

406,868,187 369,773,735

26,766,856 89,725.468 ; 45322312
20985.597  22.111.549 20,641,691 22.111,549
1.191.484.763 909,605,518 427.509.878 _ 437.207.596
875,301 801,118 875,301 801,118
31,172,585 38,107,753 11,130,844 14,613,782
37943718 23036375 24,540,000 21,000,000
9,700,000 15,925,711 9,700,000 15,925.711
2,240,000 1435000 2,240,000 1,435,000
55.000 50,000 55,000 50.000
12,830,505  11,104454 10,078,815 10,577,235
67,339,928 38,574,637 29,038,035 17.944.817
21,467,703 20,175,615 13,369,685 15.166.411
25384444 27407219 25369023 27,386,867
75,582.236 44,111,080 9,194,202 8.453.053
( 12,634,560) 4323270 (12,650,742) 4.296.671
44,711,993 23374328 21,633,560 17,499 461
14824771 19,056,091 14,398,008 19,056,091
25172,177 21,986,861 18,752,663 18,248.321
6,725,178 7,578,442 6,725,178 7,578,442
118,543,577 35947875 46,709,584 22,047,792

- 77,000,000 - -
30,382.232 17287342 12,795,552 9.220.500
22442773 16494326 7055550 6,810,631
99,996 152,835 99,996 152,835
3,514,886 3,613,610 3,320,540 3,613,610
35114012 31965409 35,114,012 31.965.409
21457826 14816136 6328422 6.140.413
42346924 41403815 _ 6885255 9.971.389
637293205 _ 535729302 302.758.483 _ 289.955.559
$1.828.777.968 1445334820 730268361 _ 727.163.155
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19. Expenses by nature (continued)
Group Company
2025 2024 025 2024

(¢)  Other income:
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Fair value of contingent
consideration net
[note 28(a)(1)]
Other income
Reimbursable expenses
with related party *
Miscellaneous

4,672,283 2,360,575 3,242,000 2,360,575

235,286,784  ( 1,820,146) - -
10,548,758 1,335,673 - -

7,655,019 7,236,867 7,655,019 7,236,867
r 1,720.466 - 1.720.466

$258.162,844  10,833.435 10,897,019 11,317,908

* This relates to reimbursable expenses incurred on behalf of Diverze Properties Limited.

Net finance costs

Finance costs:
Loan interest
Lease interest [note 11(c)]
Bank charges

Finance income:
Interest income recognised
using the effective interest
rate method
Gain on foreign exchange

* Restated, see note 30
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Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Restated™* Restated™*

396,934470 484,503,971 594,387,048 485,520,818
11,385,588 13,396,665 2,258,234 12,667,257
49.166.374 29.500.692 20,083.409 16,888,755

657486432 527401328 616,728,691 515,076,830

( 44,235,219) ( 84,621,784) (536,403,379) (475,528.465)
(_32.655.547) (_16,575.099) (__2.952.132) (_26.555.812)

(_76.890.766) (101.196.883) (539.355.511) (502.084.277)
§580,595.666 426,204,445 77,373,180 _12,992.553
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21. Taxation

(a) Depending on the jurisdiction and nature of business, income tax is computed at 25% for
the Company, 0% for subsidiaries m United States of America and 27% for the Dominican
subsidiary of the profit for the year, as adjusted for taxation purposes, and is made up as

follows:
Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Current tax:
Income tax at 25% 44 511,262 39,031,242 44 428,794 39,031,242

Income tax at 27% 13.152.646 5,547,560 - -

Less: Remission of income

tax and employment tax credit (39,827.675) (39.031.242) (_39.827.675) (39.031.242)

17.836.233 5.547.560 4.601.119 -
Delerred taxation [note 14(b)]:
Origination and reversal of
other temporary differences (30,534,740) 8.940.578  (_30.534.740) 8.940.578
$(12.698.507) 14488138  (_25.933.621) 8,940,578
(b) Reconciliation of actual tax (credit)/charge and effective tax rate:
Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Restated™ Restated*
Profit/(loss) before taxation $47,017,375 (106,955,122) 170,288,864 77,470,873
Computed "expected”
tax expense @ 25% 42 654,684 30,698,296 42572216 30,698,295
Computed "expected"”
tax expense @ 27% 13,152,646 19,703,422 - -
Tax rate differential:
Depreciation charge
and capital allowances  (27.264,657) 4,964,048  ( 27.812.255) 12,041,979
Disallowable (income)/
expenses (_1.413.505) (_1.846.386) ( 865.907) 5.231.546
Tax recognised in profit
or loss 27,129,168 53,519,380 13,894,054 47.971 820
Less: Remission of income
tax and employment
tax credit (39.827.675) (39.031.242) (_39.827.675) (39.031.242)
$(12,698,507) 14488138  (25933,621)  _8940.578

* Restated, see note 30
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21. Taxation (continued)

(c) Remission of income tax:

By notice dated August 13, 2009, the Minister of Finance and the Public Service, issued
and gazetted the Income Tax (Jamaica Stock Exchange Junior Market) (Remission)
Notice, 2009. The Notice effectively granted a remission of income tax to eligible
companies that were admitted to the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange
(JMIJSE) if certain conditions were achieved after the date of initial admission.

Effective September 29, 2020, the Company’s shares were listed on the JMJSE.
Consequently, the Company is entitled to a remission of income taxes for ten years in the
proportion set out below, provided the shares remain listed for at least 15 years.

Years | to 5: (October 1, 2021 — September 30, 2025) — 100%
Years 6 to 10: (October 1, 2025 — September 30, 2030) — 50%

Effective August 19, 2025 the Company would not qualify for these tax remissions as
they moved from JMJSE to the main market of JSE. See note 1.

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Company will have the
full benefit of the tax remissions up to August 18, 2025 because the conditions at law

were met.

22. Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary stock unit

Basic and diluted earnings per stock unit is calculated by dividing the net profit/(loss) attributable
to stockholders by the weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issue during the year.

Group
Restated™®

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to the

shareholders of the Group $_ 56,322,855 (_154,483.017)
Basic weighted average ordinary stock

units held during the year 1.426,469,595 1,325.091,370
Diluted weighted average ordinary

stock units held during the year 1.442.955.279 1,329.359,060
Basic earnings per stock unit 3.9¢ ( 11.7¢)
Diluted earnings per stock unit 3.9¢ ( 11.7¢)
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22. Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary stock unit (continued)
(i) Reconciliation of basic weighted average ordinary stock units:
Group
2025 2024
Restated*
Issued shares as at
October 1 1,334,150,000 1,303,750,000
Effect of shares issued in
share option 4,671,233 21,341,370
Issue of shares for cash 89,811,426 -
Effect of treasury shares (___2.163,064) =
1,426,469,595 1,325,091,370
(i) Reconciliation of diluted weighted average ordinary stock units:
Group
2025 2024
Restated™

Weighted average number
of basic ordinary shares

Effect of shares issued in
share option[note 23(c)]

1,426.469.595

16.485.684
1,442.955.279

23.  Share-based payment arrangements

1.325,091,370

4.267.690
1.329,359,060

(a) Description of share-based payment arrangements (equity settled share based payments):

The Group granted instruments to:

(i) Key management personnel of a subsidiary as a part of their compensation package;

(ii)) A financial institution which it transacted business with as compensation for services

rendered with Rose acquisition; and

(i11) A legal advisory services firm which it transacted business with as compensation for

services rendered with Rose acquisition.

* Restated, see note 30
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23.  Share-based payment arrangements (continued)

(a) Description of share-based payment arrangements (equity scttled share based payments)
(continued):

The key terms and conditions related to the grants are as follows:

Grant date Instruments Number of Vesting
granted to: units conditions
On January 11, Financial institution 20,000,000  None
2024
On February 1, Key management 35,227,273 Vesting commences
2024 personnel of on February 1, 2024
subsidiary and continues over a

five year period
provided that the
employee remains
in employment. The
employee/holder of
the instruments is
entitled to receive
the shares at nil cost.

On January 31, Key management 8,000,000  None
2024 personnel of

subsidary
On January 30, Key management 2,400,000 None
2024 personnel

(b) Measurement of fair values:

The input used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the equity-settled share
based payment plans were as follows:

2025 2024
Employees
Share price at grant date 2.35 N/A
Exercise price N/A N/A
Share price at grant date N/A 2.40
Exercise price N/A 2.40
Non-Employees
Share price at grant date N/A 2.05

Fair value has been determined based on level 1 inputs that are quoted observable market
prices.
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23.

24,

25.

CAL BATTERY Annual Report 2025

Share-based payment arrangements (continued)

(¢) Reconciliation of outstanding shares:
In the prior 35,227,273 shares were issued to key management personnel of
the subsidiary. These shares were subject to vesting over a five year period.
During the current year, 7,045,455 shares became vested.

(d)  Expense recognised in profit or loss

For details of the related employee benefit expenses, see note 19(b).

Dividends

No dividend was declared in the current year or prior year.

Guarantees

The Company has guarantced a loan of $125 million made to its joint venture entity EnRvate
Limited. The amount drawn down as at September 30, 2025 was $25 million (2024: was $25
million) and it will mature in March 2028. This guarantee did not result in any material
impairment.

Financial instruments

Overview:
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

e  (Credit risk
¢  Liquidity risk
. Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s
objectives, policics and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s
management of capital.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
Group’s risk management framework.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by
the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.
Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions and Group’s activities.
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26. Financial instruments (continued)
(a) Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Credit risk arises principally
from the Group’s receivables from customers, related partics and cash and cash equivalents.

Management has a credit policy in place to minimise exposure to credit risk. Credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit. The Group generally does not
require collateral in respect of financial assets, materially, trade receivables. Maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of financial assets on the
statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash cquivalents are placed with financial institutions with minimum risk of
default. The Group considers that cash resources have low credit risk base on external credit
ratings. No material impairment allowances were recognised in the prior year and there was
no change during the period.

Related party balances

The Group assesses related parties’ ability to pay if payment is demanded at the reporting
date. Management reviews recovery scenarios considering given economic conditions and
the borrowers” liquidity over the expected life of the recoverable. The expected credit losses
are calculated on this basis. This is measured on the same basis as trade receivables.

Accounts receivable

The Group allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on the data that is determined
to be predictive of the risk of loss (including but not limited to external ratings, audited
financial statements, management accounts and cash flow projections and the available
press information about its customers) and applying experienced credit judgement.

The Group uses a provision matrix to measure ECLs on trade receivables. The provision
matrix is based on its historical observed default rates over the expected life of the trade
receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. In determining forward-looking
estimates, the Group considers macro-economic factors such as:

2025 2024
Gross domestic product 0.40% 1.70%
Inflation 2.00% 5.30%
Unemployment rate 3.00% 4.20%
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26. Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued):

Accounts receivable (continued)

Loss rates are calculated based on the probability of a reccivable progressing through
successive stages of delinquency to write-off, current conditions and the economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it
is more than 330 days past due.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade
receivables as at September 30 (see also note 5).

Group
2025
Weighted Gross
average carrying Expected Credit
loss rate amount credit loss impaired
% h) $
0-30 days 029 1.037,855,202 2.999 468 No
31-60 days 1.95 32,550,860 635,907 No
61-90 days 1.02 14,065,887 143,965 No
91-120 days 0.06 84,071,758 54,440 No
121-150 days 36.11 2.181.676 787.864 No
151-180 days 095 5.588.461 53,358 No
181-210 days 0.00 134,617 - No
211-240 days 67.67 261,462 176,933 No
271-300 days 95.22 54201 51,608 No
More than 330 days 100.00 10,730,777 10.730.777 Yes
$1,187.494,901 15,634,320
Group
2024
Weighted Gross
average carrying Expected Credit
loss rate amount credit loss impaired
% S $
0-30 days 0.78 497 644213 3.894 387 No
31-60 days 0.39 110,701,377 427,352 No
61-90 days 9573 457,093 437,675 No
91-120 days 3.57 40,482,090 1,446,732 No
121-150 days 4.67 538,687 25,142 No
151-180 days 2023 9,605,723 1.943.306 No
181-210 days 2334 14,947 596 3.489.384 No
211-240 days 5.82 916,027 53317 No
241-270 days 0.14 1,719,375 2408 No
271-300 days 37.70 114,470 43,153 No
301-330 days 4789 165,157 79.091 No
More than 330 days 100.00 16,426,933 16,426,933 Yes
$693.718.741 28,268,880

;
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26. Financial instruments (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued):

Accounts receivable (continued)

69

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade
receivables as at September 30 (see also note 5) (continued).

Company
2025
Weighted Gross
average carrying Expected Credit
loss rate amount credit loss impaired
% b $
0-30 days 0.81 233,364,105 1.884.796 No
31-60 days 303 17,502,990 635,907 No
61-90 days 11.46 1,256,530 143,965 No
91-120 days 2295 239260 54,440 No
121-150 days 32.82 2,400,528 787.864 No
151-180 days 41.96 127,161 53,358 No
211-240 days 67.89 260,599 176,933 No
271-300 days 95.22 54,201 51,608 No
More than 330 days 100.00 10,730,777 10,730,777 Yes
$265,936,151 14,519,648
Company
2024
Weighted Gross
average carrying Expected
Credit loss rate amountcredit loss
impaired % A
$
0-30 days 2.58 108,437,175 2,795,897 No
31-60 days 0.59 72,864 841 427 352 No
61-90 days 1.45 30.111,816 437.675 No
91-120 days 4.00 36,136,681 1,446,732 No
121-150 days 7.69 326,835 25,142 No
151-180 days 2241 8,670,089 1.943.306 No
181-210 days 24.88 14,023,647 3,489.384 No
211-240 days 19.96 267,146 23317 No
241-270 days 26.76 9,000 2,408 No
271-300 days 37.70 114,471 43153 No
301-330 days 47.89 165,156 79,091 No
Maore than 330 days 100.00 16426933 16.426.933 Yes
$287,553,790 27,170,390
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26. Financial instruments (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued):
Aceounts receivable (continued)

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade
receivables as at September 30 (see also note 5) (continued).

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the
year is as follows:

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Balance at beginning of year 28,268,880 22873719 27.170.390 22.873.719
Arising on acquisition of
Rose Batterics - 1,071,891 - -
Movement during the year (12.634.560) 4.323 270 (12.650,742) 4.296.671
Balance at end of year $15,634.320 28,268 880 14,519,648 27,170,390

(b) Concentration risk:
(1) Trade receivables:

Trade receivables are primarily receivable from customers in Jamaica, United States
of America and Dominican Republic. The following table summarises the Company
and the Group’s credit exposure for trade receivables at their carrying amounts, as
categorised by the concentration of customers:

Group Company
024 2025 2024

(=]

02

L
[§]

Top ten customers ~ 851,455494 456,107,007 69,951,477 133,739,244
Others 336,039407  237.611.734 195.984.674 153.814.546

1,187,494 901 693,718,741 265,936,151 287,553,790
Less: Provision for
credit losses ( 15.634.320) ( 28.268.880) (_14.519.648) ( 27.170.390)

S1,171.860,581 665449861  251416,503 260,383,400

(c) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet
commitments assoctated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from an
inability to sell a financial asset quickly at, or close to, its fair value. Prudent liquidity risk
management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and the
availability of funding through an adequatc amount of committed credit facilitics, by
maintaining les of credit with its bankers and by monitoring expenditure commitments.
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26. Financial instruments (continued)
(¢)  Liquidity risk (continued):

The Group’s liquidity risk management process includes:

(i) Maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping lines of funding available with relevant
suppliers and bankers, sourcing the appropriate currency through open market
purchase to match foreign currency liabilities and by pursuing prompt payment
policies.

(ii) Maintaining committed lines of credit.

(1) Monitoring the level of expected cash inflows on trade and other receivables together
with expected cash outflows on trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities cash flows
The table below presents the undiscounted cash flows payable (both interest and principal

cash flows) on the Group’s and Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual
repayment obligations at the reporting date.

Group
2025
Within | ltos Over Non-specitic Carrying
year years 5 years maturity Total amount
g $ S S g b
Accounts payable 1.512.504,580 x - - 1,512,504,380 1.,512,504,580
Short-term loans 1,528,128,539 - - - 1,528,128,539  1.426,255,717
Due to fellow subsidiary - 629,443,070 - - 629.443.070 317,516,279
Due to related parties 16,615,192 - - - 16,615,192 16,615,192
Long-term loans 637,124,075 2,779,667,294 1,339,058 15,185,102 3433315529 2892113315
Leases 82.750.006 _ 350.661.996 - - 433,412,092 354.607.741
3.777,122,482  3,759,772,360 1,339,058 15,185,102 7,553,419,002 6,719,612,824
Group
2024 Restated*
Within 1 lio5 Over Non-specific Carrying
year years S years matrity Total amount
$ g S S 5 §
Accounts payable 1.431.199.470 - - - 1431199470 1431199470
Short-term loans 2,082.330,619 - - - 2,082,330,619  1.986,216,962
Due to fellow subsidiary - 610,000,000 - - 610,000,000 500,000,000
Long-term loans 618,676,326 3,367,697,778 92625169 17258150  4.096,257,423 2787255925
Leases 54,864,462 25259344 8777.177 - 88,900,983 80.062.790

4.187,070,877 4002957122 101402346 17,258,150 8308688495 6784735147

* Restated, see note 30
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26. Financial instruments (continued)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (continued):
Financial liabilities cash flows (continued)
The table below presents the undiscounted cash flows payable (both interest and principal

cash flows) on the Group’s and Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual
repayment obligations at the reporting date (continued).

Campany
2025
Within 1 13 Over Non-specific Carrying
year years 5 years maturity Total amount
$ b b S 5 5

Accounts payahle 957,358,986 - - - 057,358,986 957358 986
Short-term loan [,270.403.457 - - - 1,270,403.457 1,185.868,576
Due to fellow subsidiary - 610,000,000 - - 610,000,000 500,000,000
Long-term loans 606,720,625 2.779.667.294 1.339.058 5,685,102 3393482079 2869052926
Leases 7,486,969 26,304,425 S 2 33.791.394 _ 27.427.024

52.842.040.037 3.415.971.719 _1.339.058 _5.685,102 6.263,035.916 3.539.707.512

Company
R ) 2024 Restated¥ ) )
Within 1 13 Over Non-specific Carrying
year years 5 years maturity Total amount
5 b b S 5 5
Aceounts payahle 792,112,641 - - - 792,112,641 792,112,641
Short-term loan [.844278,219 - - 1,844,278.219 1,748, 164,562
Due to fellow subsidiary - 610,000,000 - - 610,000,000 500,000,000
Long-term loans 581,976,261 3,367,697,778 92,625,169 7,758,150  4,050,057,358 2,757.897.604
Leases _B218412 _ 25250344 8777177 - 42254933 33.416.740

$3,226.585,533  4.002957.122 101402346 7758150 7338703151 5.831.591,547
Market risk:

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange
rates and equity prices will affect the value of the Group’s assets, the amount of its
liabilities and/or the Group’s income. Market risk arises from fluctuations in the value of
liabilities and the value of investments held. The Group is exposed to market risk on certain
of its financial assets. There is no significant exposure to equity price risk. Derivative
financial instruments are not used to reduce exposure to market risk.

(1)  Interest rate risk:

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due
to changes in market interest rates.

* Restated, see note 30
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26. Financial instruments (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued):
(1) Interest rate risk (continued):

The Group’s interest rate risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by
maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments. The policy
also requires it to manage the maturities of interest-bearing financial assets and
liabilities.

The Group materially contracts financial liabilities at interest rates for the duration
of the exposure. The bank loans are subject to interest rates which may be varied
with appropriate notice by the lender.

Interest-bearing financial assets are primarily represented by short-term bank
deposits, which are contracted at fixed interest rates for the duration of the term.

At the reporting date the interest profile of the Group and Company’s interest-
bearing financial instruments was:

Group
Carrying amount
2025 2024
Restated™
$ $
Variable rate liabilities 292 500,000 345,151,786
Fixed rate habilities 4299 570 868 4.700.055,009
Variable rate assets 32773769 40,470,318
Company
Carrying amount
2025 2024
Restated™
$ $
Variable rate: liabilities 292 500,000 345,151,786
Fixed rate liabilities 4,036,123,339 4,432,644,288
Variable rate assets 32,773,769 40,470,318

* Restated, see note 30
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26. Financial instruments (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued):
(1) Interest rate risk (continued):
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Group does not hold any fixed rate financial assets that are subject to material
changes in fair value. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would
not affect profit or equity.
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change in interest rates at the reporting date would have (decreased)/increased
profit by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables,
in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis 1s performed on

the same basis for 2024,

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

Group
2025 2024
Effect on profit Effect on profit
25bp 100bp 25bp 100bp
Increase Decrease Increase  Decreasc
$ S S $
Cash flow sensitivity (net) 351,051 1,404,204 177,494 709,972
Company
2025 2024
Effect on profit Effect on profit
25bp 100bp 25bp 100bp
Increase Decrease Increase  Decrease
$ S $ $
Cash flow sensitivity (net) 351,051 1,404,204 177,494 709,972

(ii)  Foreign currency risk:

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate
due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
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26. Financial instruments (continued)
(d)  Market risk (continued):
(11)  Foreign currency risk (continued):

The Group incurs foreign currency risk primarily on purchases and borrowings that
are denominated in a currency other than the Jamaican dollar. Such exposures
comprise the monetary assets and liabilities of the Group that are not denominated
in that currency. The main foreign currency risks of the Group are denominated in
United States dollars (US$), which is the principal intervening currency for the
Group.

The Group manages foreign exchange exposure by maintaining adequate Liquid
resources in appropriate currencies and by managing the timing of payments on

foreign currency liabilities.

The following significant exchange rates have been applied:

025 2024
USD 1 160.23 155.39
Dominican Peso | 2.57 261

The table below shows the Group’s and Company’s main foreign currency exposure
at the reporting date:

Net foreign currency
monetary assets/{liabilities)

_Group : _Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
Us$ Peso USS$ Peso S8 USs
Cash and cash equivalents 442 858 15,686,541 1,965,821 11,638,585 61,037 12,516
Accounts receivable 4,300,637 10,111,269 2,049,333 32,374,115 - -
Orther receivable 363,594 15,847,602 766008 26,273,304 160,494 -
Accounts payable ( 7.328.592) (15208.812) ( 7.000284) (33228.564) ( 4378.008) ( 3.054.323)
Short-term loans ( 7.031.216) < (10,781,685) : ( 5.499.376) ( 9,264,723}
Long-term loans (13.654.306) (9779695 (12.942.993) (12.189.984) (13.621.096) (12.909.782)
Net exposure (22,907.025) 16.656,.905  (25.943.800) 24.867.456 (23.276.949) (25.209.312)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis:

A 1% (2024: 1%) weakening of the United States dollar (US$) against the Jamaica
dollar (J$) at the yecar-end would have increased profit by $36,704,201 (2024:
$40,943.,039) for the Group and $37,296,935 (2024: $38,783,913) for the Company.
This analysis assumes that all other variables in particular interest rates, remained
constant.

A 3.5% (2024: 4%) strengthening of the United States dollar (US$) against the
Jamaica dollar (J$) at the year-end would have increased loss by $128 464,704 (2024:
$163,772,157 for the Group and decreased profit by $130,539.271 (2024:
$159,135,652) for the Company. This analysis assumes that all other variables in
particular interest rates, remained constant.
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26. Financial instruments (continued)
(e) Fair value:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, related party
receivables, related party payables, short-term loans and accounts payable with exception
of contingent consideration are assumed to approximate to their carrying value due to their
short-term nature. These are included in level 2 fair value hierarchy. The carrying value
of the long-term loans is assumed to approximate fair value as the loans bear interest at
market rates.

The following table below shows the valuation techniques used in measuring level 3 fair
value as at September 30, 2025,

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable | Inter-relationship
inputs hetween significant
unobservable inputs and
fair value measurement
Contingent Discounted cash flows: | o Expected cash flows of | The estimated fair value
consideration The waluation model $375,000 per quarter. would mcerease/{decrease)
considers the present if:
value of expected | o Risk-adjusted discount | ® the expected cash flows
payments,  discounted rate, September 30, 2025 were higher/(lower); or
using a risk-adjusted 13.92% (January 31, the
discount rate, 2024 13.92% | o risk-adjusted discount
September 30, 2024 rate were
14.3%) lower/(higher).

(f)  Capital management:

The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which is defined as total
sharcholders’ equity. The board’s policy is to maintain adequate capital to sustain future
development of the business. There were no changes to capital management during the
year.

27.  Segment reporting

The Board of Directors has determined the Group’s operating segments based on the reports
reviewed by them that are used to make strategic decisions. The Group is organised and managed
in two main business segments based on its business activitics. The segment arose upon the
acquisition of Kaya Energy Group SRL and Rose Batteries. The primary business of the
subsidiaries is the distribution of renewable energy batteries and provider of specialised batteries
for medical devices and aerospace sectors. The revenue segment for energy storage segment
includes the following revenue categories: net battery, net tyre and accessories. The renewable
energy segment includes revenues for renewable energy solutions.
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27. Segment reporting (continued)

2025
Renewable
Energy energy
storage solutions Elimination Total
$ S $ $
Revenues 6,068,603,244 382396728 (  8,321,054) 6,442,678918
Operating profit 477,446,105 30,238,899 8,252,130 515,937,134
Profit before taxation ( 9,495.287) 28,956,689 16,518,094 35,979,496
Depreciation and
amortisation ( 149374,086) ( 4,688290) (  3,462,440) ( 157,524,816)
Interest income 566,767,301 139,641 ( 522,671,723) 44235219
Finance costs ( 1,180,872,105) ( 3,452.123) 526,837,796 ( 657,486,432)
Taxation 12,780975 ( 82.,468) - 12,698,507
Impairment (credit)/loss on
trade receivables ( 12,634,560) - - (  12,634,560)
Assets 13,130,742,546 413,737,959 (5,160,681,021) 8,383,799.484
Liabilities (11,079,716,141) ( 297,997.320) 4 586,831,442 (6,790,882,028)
Joint venture 5.000.000 - _ - 5,000,000
2024
Restated™
Renewable
Energy energy
storage solutions Elimination Total
$ S $ $
Revenues 5,268,092, 706 354 208,765 - 5,622,301,471
Operating profit 358,477,408 85,539,974 - 444 017,382
Loss before taxation ( 154,390,338) 75354989 ( 2716,617) 81,751,966
Depreciation and
amortisation ( 108.471,795) ( 1,.926,543) - ( 110,398,338)
Interest income 480,230,605 332,600 ( 395941421) 84,621,784
Finance costs ( 920,724,189) ( 2,618,560) 395941421 ( 527,401,328)
Taxation ( 8,940,578) ( 5,547,560) : ( 14,488,138)
Impairment loss on frade
recetvables ( 4,323.270) - - ( 4.323.270)
Assets 11,965,715,301 209,758,058 (4,328,971,649) 7.,846,501,710
Liabilities (10,435,420,172) (122,135,786) 3,755,765,852 (6,801,790,106)
Joint venture 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000

* Restated see note 30
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27. Segment reporting (continued)

Geographic information:

The geographic information analyses the Groups revenue and non-current assets by the
Company’s country of domicile and other countries. In presenting the geographic information,
segment revenuc has been based on the geographic location of customers and segment assets
were based on the geographic location of the assets.

(1)

(i1)

Revenue:
2025 2024
Jamaica 3,352,237.176 3.006,870,477
United States 2,933,031,788 2,261,222,229
Dominican Republic 157,409,954 354.208.765
$6,442,678918 5,622,301,471
Non-current assets:
2025 2024
Jamaica 1,502,535.637 1,372,842.619
United States 3,229.368,182 2.938.854,764
Dominican Republic 8.487.602 7.461.182
$4,740,391,421 4,319,158,565

28. Effect of purchase of business

(a)

Acquisition of Rose Batteries:

Effective December 22, 2023, Tropical Battery (USA) LLC (“TBC USA”), a subsidiary of
Tropical Battery Company Limited, entered into a member interest agreement to purchase
100% of the shares in Rose Electronics Distributing Company LLC, for a consideration of
$3.547 billion (US$22.8 million). The closing date of the acquisition was January 30,
2024. The acquisition was partially financed by a convertible cumulative redeemable
preferred equity facility from Sygnus Credit Investments Ltd [see note 17(f)] and US$9m
loan from CIBC [see note 17(1)].

Included in the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired at the date of acquisition of Rose
Batteries Distributing Company LLC are inputs (inventories and property, plant and
equipment), production processes and an organized workforce. The Group determined that
together the acquired inputs and processes significantly contribute to the ability to create
revenue. The Group has concluded that the acquired set is a business.
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

28.  Effect of purchase of business (continued)

(a)  Acquisition of Rose Batteries (continued):

Rose Batteries specialises in custom battery packs for critical sectors such as aerospace,
defence and medical devices. The acquisition of Rose Batteries enables the Group to
expand its market presence and operational scale. The Group also expects to capitalise on
the synergies with the other entities within the Group. This will lead to increased growth,
profitability and cost efficiencies.

In the nine months to September 30, 2024, Rose Batteries contributed revenue of $2.08
billion and profit of $280 million to the Group’s results. If the acquisition had occurred on
October 1, 2023, management estimates that the consolidated revenue would have been
$4.25 billion and consolidated profit would have been $472.6 million. In determining these
amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments, determined
provisionally, that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the
acquisition had occurred on October 1, 2023.

(i) Consideration transferred:

The following table summarises the acquisition date fair value of cach major class of
consideration transferred.

Cash 3,080,617,512
Contingent consideration (see note below) 433,977.836

— e e

Total consideration transferred $3.514,595.348

The Group has agreed to pay the selling shareholders additional consideration of
§472.07 million (USD $3 million) if the acquiree’s customer revenues are achieved
as per the agreed targets over the next two years. Payments of USD $375,000 to be
paid each quarter if agreed targets are met. The fair value of contingent consideration
is $433.97 million at the acquisition date. It was estimated by applying discounted
cash flow mode! and estimating the present value of the quarterly payments of
$375,000 using a risk adjusted discount rate of 13.92%. See below table for
movement in contingent consideration during the year.

Contingent consideration 466,671,750
Fair value adjustment at acquisition (_32.693.914)
Fair value contingent consideration at acquisition 433,977,836

Payments during the year ( 99,002,724)
Fair value of contingent consideration recognised

in profit or loss [note 19(c)] (_1.820,146)
Contingent consideration at September 30, 2024 333.154.966

Fair value of contingent consideration recognised

TROPICAL BATTERY Annuc

in profit or loss [note 19(c)]
Foreign currency adjustment

Contingent consideration at September 30, 2025

| Report 2025

( 235,2806,784)
(__6.632.877)

§_91,235,305

—
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

28. Effect of purchase of business (continued)

(a)  Acquisition of Rose Batteries (continued):
(11) Acquisition related costs:
The Group has incurred acquisition related costs of $77 million [note 19(b)] relating
to external legal fees and due diligence costs. These have been included in
“administration, marketing and selling expenses™ in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

(iii) Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed and goodwill:

The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.

January 30,
2024
Property, plant and equipment 28,655,521
Intangible assets 52,063,758
Right-of-use assets [note 11(a)] 77,552 444
Inventories 499,844,960
Accounts receivable 464,845,507
Cash 13,405,923
Leasc liabilitics ( 81,182,062)
Accounts payable (_371,752.875)
Total identifiable net assets acquired 683.433.176
Total consideration transferred 3,514,595,348
Total identifiable net assets acquired (_683.433.176)
Goodwill [note 9(c)| $52.831.162.172

The fair value of the goodwill acquired has been provisional determined and no
adjustment have been made for intangible assets and the associated deferred tax, if any.

The goodwill is attributed mainly to the skills and technical talent of the work force of
Rose Batteries and products offered that will expand the Group’s market presence.
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29. Non-controlling interest

81

The following table summarises the Group’s material non-controlling interest (NCI) in Kaya
Energy Group before any intra Group eliminations: The non-controlling interest for Tropical
Renewable Energy Limited, Tropical Finance Limited and Tropical Mobility Limited were not

considered material for consolidation and disclosure.

(a)

(b)

(c)

30. Prnor

Statement of financial position:

Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets
Carrying amount of NCI
NCI percentage

Statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income:

Revenue

Profit
Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Total comprehensive income
Profit allocated to NCI
Other comprehensive loss allocated to NCI

Total comprehensive profit allocated to NCI
Statement of cash flows:
Cash flows provided in operating activities

Cash flows used in investment activities
Cash flows used in financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

year restatement

ty

Interest cxXpense:

2025 2024
155237,042 202,346,118
( 63.825442) (117.103,198)
$.91.411,600 85,242,920
S 44,791,684 41,769,031

49% 49%
157.409.954 354,208,765
6,924,544 67,428,075
(___755.865) (_9.356,061)
$_ 6,168,679 58,072,014
3,393,027 33,039,757
(___370374) (_4.584.470)
$_ 3,022,653 28,455,287
19,979,700 39,853,185

( 2,714,937)
(__6.450.367)

( 11,368,462)
(__6.930.716)

$_10.814,396

21,554,007

During 2025, the Company discovered that the interest expense for August and
September 2024 on the USS13M Sygnus loan was not recorded. This loan was on-lent to
Tropical Battery (USA) LLC to facilitate the Rose acquisition. Further, the corresponding
interest income from Tropical Battery (USA) LLC was also omitted. As a result, both
interest expense and interest income were understated at the Company level, resulting in
a nil impact on profit. At the statement of financial position level for the Company, the
due from subsidiaries, accounts payable and loans payable were understated. At the
Group level, the omission resulted in an understatement of interest expense, accounts

payable and long- term loan.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

30. Prior year restatement (continued)

(IT)  Share-based payment:

The Company and its subsidiary did not account for share-based payment transactions
granted to its employees and non-employees during the prior reporting period.
Consequently, the share capital and administrative expenses of the Company and Group
were understated.

The above errors have been corrected by restating each of the affected financial statement
line items for prior periods. The following tables summarise the impacts on the Company

and Group’s financial statements.

(a)  Statement of Financial Position:

Group
2024
As previously As
reported Adjustments restated
CURRENT ASSETS 3.532.343.145 - 3.532.343.145
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 1,396,814,137 34,385,333 1.431,199.470
Others 2.135.870.763 - 2.135.870.,763
3.532.684900 34385333 3.567.070.233
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES ( 341.755) (_34.385.333) (__ 34.727.088)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 4.319.158.565 - 4.319.158.565
54318816810 ( 34,385333) 4284431477
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 164,287,800 89,725,468 254,013,268
Capital contribution 459,207,861 - 459,207,861
Accumulated profit 430,754,843 (141,303.781) 289,451,062
Foreign currency translation 5.270,382 - 5.270.382
Equity attributable to owners of
the company 1,059,520,886 ( 51,578.313) 1,007,942,573
Non-controlling interest 41.769.031 - 41.769.031

1.101.289.917 (_51,578.313) 1.049.711.604

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term loans 2,671,781,372 17,192,980 2,688,974,352
Others 345,745,521 - 545.745.521

3.217.526.893 _17.192.980 3.234.719.873
54318816810 (_34,385,333) 4,284,431.477
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

September 30_ 2025

30. Prior vear restatement (continued)

(a)

Statement of Financial Position (continued):

CURRENT ASSETS
Due from subsidiaries
Others

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Others

NET CURRENT ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Interest in subsidiaries
Others

SHAREHOLDERS™ EQUITY
Share capital
Capital contribution
Accumulated profit

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term loans
Others

TROPICAL BATTERY Annual Report 2025
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Company
2024
As previously As
reported Adjustments restated
420,834,298 51578313 472412611
3.241.745.052 - 3.241.745.052
3.662.579.350 51,578.313 3.714,157.663
757,727,308 34385333 792,112,641
1.851,172.313 - 1.851,172.313
2.608,899.621 34.385.333 2.643.284.954
1.053,679.729  17.192.980 1.070.872.709

70,539,066
3.240,402.111

44 403,156

114,942 222
3.240.402,111

3310941177 44.403.156 3.355344333
$4,364,620,906 61,596,136 4,426,217,042
164,287,800 89725468 254,013,268
459,207,861 & 459,207,861
552,956,673 (45.322312) _ 507,634,361
1.176 452,334  44.403.156 1.220.855.490
2642423051 17,192,980 2,659.616,031
545,745,521 : 545,745,521
3.188.168,572  17.192.980 3.205.361,552
$4,364,620,906 61,596,136 4,426,217,042

1
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30. Prior year restatement (continued)
(b)  Statement of Profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Income:
Group
2024
As previously As
reported Adjustments restated
Gross profit 1,864,149.046 - 1,864,149.046

Administration, marketing and
selling expenses

(1.355.609.352)

(_89.725.468)

(1.445.334.820)

Operating profit 508,539,694 ( 89,725468) 418,814,226
Other income 10,833.435 - 10,833,435
Profit before depreciation and
amortisation, net finance
costs and taxation 519,373,129 ( 89,725 468) 429 647,661

Depreciation and amortisation
Profit before net finance costs

(__110.398,338)

(__110.398.338)

and taxation 408.974.791 ( 89.725.468) 319,249,323
Interest income recognised using

the effective interest rate 84,621,784 - 84,621,784
Finance costs ( 475,823.015) ( 51.,578,313) ( 527,401,328)
Gain on foreign exchange 16.575.099 - 16.575.099
Net finance costs (_374.626.132) ( 51.578.313) ( _426.204.445)
Profit/(loss) before taxation 34,348,659 (141,303,781) ( 106,955,122)
Taxation (_ 14.488.138) - (_ 14,488.138)
Profit/(loss) for the year S__19.860.521 (141.303.781) (__121,443.260)

Profit for the year attributed to:

Owners of Topical Battery Co. Litd.

Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for

the year

Total comprehensive (loss)/income

attributable to

( 13.179.236)
33.039.757

(141,303,781)

( 154,483.017)
33,039,757

$__19.860.521

(141,303.781) (

121,443 .260)

$__33,829,54]

(141.303,781) (

107,474,240)

Owners of Tropical Battery Co. Ltd. 5,374,254 (141,303,781) ( 135,929.527)
Non-controlling interest 28,455,287 E 28455287

$ 33829541 (141.,303.781) (__107.474.240)

Earnings per stock unit (Basic) ( 1.00¢) ( 11.7¢)

Earnings per stock unit (Diluted) ( 1.00¢) ( 11.7¢)
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30.  Prior year restatement (continued)
(b)  Statement of Profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Income (continued):
Company
2024
As previously As
reported Adjustments restated
Gross profit 870,964217 . 870.964.217
Administration, marketing and
selling expenses (681.840.843) (45322312) (727.163.155)
Operating profit 189,123,374  (45322312) 143,801,062
Other income 11,317,908 : 11.317.908
Profit before depreciation and
amortisation, net finance costs
and taxation 200,441282  (45322312) 155,118,970
Depreciation and amortisation (_64.655.544) - (_64.655.544)
Profit before net finance costs
and taxation 135,785,738  (45.322.312) 90,463,426
Interest income recognised
using the effective interest
rate method 423,950,152 51,578,313 475,528,465

Finance costs (463.498.517) (51.578313)  (515.076,830)

Gain on foreign exchange 26,555,812 - 26,555,812
Net finance costs (_12.992 553) - (_12.992.553)
Profit before taxation 122,793,185  (45,322.312) 77,470,873
Taxation (_8.940.578) - (__8.940.578)
Profit for the year 113,852,607 (45,322,312) 68,530,295
Other comprehensive income net

of taxation _13.279.500 - 13,279.500

Total comprehensive income for

the year $127.132,107  (45.322.312) 81,809,795
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30.  Prior year restatement (continued)
(¢)  Statement of Cash Flows:
Group
2024
As previously As
reported Adjustments restated
S $ S
Cashflows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) for the year 19,860,521  (141,303,781) ( 121,443,260)
Interest on loans 432,925,658 51,578,313 484,503,971
Interest income ( 84,621,784) 2 ( 84,621,784)
Equity settled share-based payments - 89,725,468 89,725,468
Others 59,406,218 - 59,406,218
427,570,613 - 427,570,613
Other working capital (__805,475.810) - (_805,475.8106)
Net cash used in operating activities (_377.905.203) - (_377.905.203)
Company
2024
As previously As
reported Adjustments restated
S $ S
Cashflows from operating activities
Profit for the vear 113,852,607 ( 45,322.312) 68,530,295
Interest on loans 433,942,505 51,578,313 485,520,818
Interest income ( 423,950.152) ( 51,578,313) ( 475,528,465)
Equity settled share-based payments , 45322312 45.322.312
Others 80.645.827 - 80.645.827
204,490,787 - 204,490,787
Other working capital (_750.754.369) - (_750.754.369)
Net cash used in operating activities (_546.263.582) - (_546.263.582)

The prior year restatements did not have a material impact on the total investing and financing
cash flows for the Group and Company for the year ended September 30, 2024.
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TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2025

31. Subseguent events

(i)

(i1)

On October 28, 2025, Category 5 Hurricane Melissa made landfall in Jamaica, causing
extensive damage to the country's infrastructure, displacing residents, and disrupting
business activities especially in the Western section of the island. The Government of
Jamaica declared the island a disaster area on October 28, 2025.

The Company's facilities in Montego Bay sustained damage from flooding and were
closed until November 9, 2025. Management has not been able to accurately estimate the
total loss due to the delay in getting a quotation. The Company is in discussions with its
insurer regarding an insurance claim. However, no estimates can be made at this stage, as
the insurer is still considering the claims and the actual costs of the damage have yet to be
determined.

Management has assessed the impact of this event on the entity's operations, including
potential effects on November 2025 revenues resulting from the closure of the location
and concluded that there was no material effect on sales. They also mntend to submit a
claim for consequential loss after the property damage claim is finalised.

As at the date of authorisation of these financial statements, management continues to
assess the economic impact of this event. While the full effect is not yet determined,
management does not currently expect any significant adverse impact on the Company's
profitability, capital adequacy, or overall financial position.

Subsequent to the year end, the Group announced a restructuring of its solar operations,
including the combination of its two subsidiaries; Kaya Energy in the Dominican Republic
and Tropical Renewable Energy in Jamaica.

14

~




Disclosure
of Shareholdings




Section 14 | Financial Statements

DISCLOSURE
OF SHAREHOLDINGS

The following tables set out the shareholdings of the ten largest shareholders, Directors and thelr connected partles, and
Senlor Managers and thelr connected partles of Troplcal Battery Company Limited as at September 30, 2025, as
exiracted from the records of the Jamaica Ceniral Securltles Depository Limited.

(A) TOP TEN SHAREHOLDERS

DAl Diverze (Jamalca) Limited 975,000,000 55.97367
National Insurance Fund 267,379,600 15.35017
Consclous Capltal Inc. 41,250,000 236812
Christopher J. Wunderlich 40,230,873 230961
Sygnus Capiltal Group Limited 20,000,000 114809
TBC Pension Scheme 16,358,353 0.93890
Tourlsm Workers Pension Scheme 16,042,800 0.92078
Daniel & Anna Melville 12,708,437 0.72958
First Jamalca/UHWI Pension Scheme 11,362,573 0.65241
NCB Capltal Markets Ltd A/C 2231 1,302,943 0.64903

Total Issued share capiltal: 1,741,890,573 shares
Total shares held by Top Ten Shareholders: 1,411,635,579 shares
Percentage of Issued capltal held by Top Ten Shareholders: 81.04%

(B) SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS AND CONNECTED PARTIES

The table below sets out the Interests of Directors of the Company, Including shares held directly and through connected
partles, as at September 30, 2025.

Alexander Melville 147,182 1,016,568,000 1,016,715,182
Andrew Cramer - 3,750,000 3,750,000
Caryl Fenton - - -
Daniel Melville 12,708,437 975,000,000 987,708,437
Itamar Frankenthal 8,000,000 - 8,000,000
Jody Gager-Rose - - -
Marc Melville - 975,000,000 975,000,000
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$6.44B $2.36B $527.0M | $785.M $59.7M
YOY Increase YOY Increase YOY Increase YQY Increase YOY Increase
14.6% 26.6% 25.8% 82.8% NM,

(C) SHAREHOLDINGS OF SENIOR MANAGERS AND CONNECTED PARTIES
The table below sets out the Interests of Senlor Managers of the Company, Including shares held directly and through
connected partles, as at September 30, 2025.

Alexander Melville 147,182 1,016,568,000 1,016,715,182
Andrew Cramer - 3,750,000 3,750,000
Christopher J. Wunderlich 40,230,873 - 40,230,873
Danlel Melville 12,708,437 975,000,000 987,708,437
David Walton - - -

Jeffrey Brown - - -

Kamesha Campbell-Robinson 1,514,224 - 1,514,224
Karina Chez 3,750,000 - 3,750,000
O'Rane Gray - 150,000 150,000
Oliver Hill - - -
Reshando Mails 300,000 - 300,000
Sandra C Russell - - -
Stacy-Ann Spence 79,300 - 79,300
Tim Gray - = &
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CORPORATE
DATA

TROPIC AL

BATTERY

Tropical Battery Company Limited
30 Automotive Parkway

Ferry Commerclal Park

Mandela Highway

Kingston 20

Jamaica, W.I.

P.O. Box 14

Webslte: www .troplcalbattery.com

TROPICAL TROPICAL TROPICAL

Mobility Renewable Energy Finance

Rose Batterles Distributing Company
2060 Corporate Court

San Jose, CA 95131

United States of Amerlca

Webslte: www.rosebatterles.com

L KAYA

Kaya Energy Group

Av. 27 de Febrero #299

Edificlo Chez Corporativo
Santo Domingo

Dominican Republic

Emall: gosolar@kayaenergy.com
Phone: (809) 985-KAYA (5292)
Webslte: www . kayaenergy.com

Kingston
1IE Grove Road, KNG 10, (876) 926-6615

30 Automotive Parkway, Ferry Commercial Park, KNG 20, (876) 923-6231-3

15 Ashenhelm Road, KNG 11, (876) 758-3454

Ocho Rios
Coconut Grove, St. Ann, (876) 974-8777-8

Montego Bay
Catherine Hall Trade Cenire, St. James, (876) 971-622

Mandeville
6 Villa Road, Manchester, 876) 625-0600, (876) 625-9083

SYGNUS Capital

Limited

Unit 28

80 Lady Musgrave Road
Kingston 10, Jamalca

KPMG Jamaica

The Victoria Mutual Bullding
6 Duke Street

Kingston, Jamalca

Ramsay & Parfners

8 Lady Musgrave Road
Kingston 5, St Andrew
Jamaica

Patterson Malr Hamilton
Temple Court 85

Hope Road

Kingston 6, Jamalca.
Clinton Hart & Co.

58 Duke Street
Kingston, Jamalca

Jamalca Central Securifles Depository Limited
40 Harbour Street
Kingston, Jamalca

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed
on the Jamalca Stock Exchange.







TROPICAL BATTERY COMPANY LIMITED
PROXY FORM

I/We

of

being a member(s) of Tropical Baftery Company Limited hereby appoint

of

Or fdlling him/her
of

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf af the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on
Friday Aprll 24, 2026 at 10: 00 am In an online format using the Zoom platform and at any adjournment thereof.

Slgned this day of 2026.

Signature Signature

A member entliled to aftend and vote at the meeting Is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote In his/her
stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

If executed by a corporation, this proxy must be sealed. A corporate shareholder may appolnt a representative In
accordance with the Company’s Arficles of Incorporation, Instead of appointing a proxy.

This Form of Proxy must be recelved by the Reglstrar of the Company, 30 Automotive Parkway, Ferry
Commerclal Park, Mandela Highway, Kingston 20, Jamalca, not less than 48 hours before the time of the meeting.

This Form of Proxy should bear stamp duty of $100.00. Adheslve stamps are to be cancelled by the person signing
the proxy.
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